;Iﬂ’ TOWN OF
a4 COMOX

REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING
AGENDA FOR WEDNESDAY AUGUST 9, 2023

The Town of Comox respectfully acknowledges that we are standing on the Unceded traditional territory of the K'omoks First Nation.

Meeting Location: Council Chambers, 1801B Beaufort Avenue, Comox
Call to Order: 5:00 p.m.

1. INTRODUCTION AND APPROVAL OF LATE ITEMS:

2. ADOPTION OF AGENDA:

a. Adoption of the Agenda

That the August 9, 2023 Regular Council Meeting agenda be adopted.
3. DELEGATIONS:

(9) a. Brian Perry: (Manor Park Strata Corporation): Development Variance Permit Application
DVP 23-7 (2250 Manor Place)

4. ADOPTION OF MINUTES:

(10) a. Regular Council Meeting Minutes

That the Minutes of the Regular Meeting of Council, held in Council Chambers on
Wednesday July 12, 2023, be Adopted.

5. COUNCIL COMMITTEE MINUTES AND REPORTS: NIL

6. CONSENT AGENDA:
17) a. Consent Agenda

That the Consent Agenda items as follows be received for information:

a. Naomi Radawiec, Brooklyn Elementary Grade 5/6 class, July 12, 2023, would like to see
information signs and fencing around the Middens at Mack Laing Park.

b. Lisa Domae, North Island College, July 20, 2023, Build 2026 update.
c¢. Sarah Weber, C3 Alliance Corp, July 21, 2023, invitation to Resource Breakfast Series.

d. Anne Bank, National Defence, July 26, 2023, reply to the letter asking to examine the
Comox Airport Zoning Regulations.
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TOWN OF COMOX
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA OF WEDNESDAY AUGUST 9, 2023

17 a. Consent Agenda

e. Jen Ford, UBCM, July 28, 2023, advising of Community Works Fund payment for
2023/2024

f. Jack & Kathryn Turner, July 28, 2023, automated collection concerns

g. Cindy Webb, Township of Spallumcheen, July 31, 2023, seeking support for no-cost
recycling of certain plastic containers.

h. Jesse Ketler, CVRD, August 2, 2023, initiation of Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw
amendment

(. Julia Jachimowicz, United Way BC, August 2, 2023, Proclamation request for United
Way Campaign.
J. Jonas Woodrow, UBCM, August 2, 2023, Next Generation 911 Funding
7. UNFINISHED BUSINESS:
(87) a. 2022 Annual Report Adoption

That the 2022 Annual Report, as contained in the August 9, 2023 Regular Council
Meeting agenda, be Adopted.

8. SPECIAL REPORTS: NIL
9. BYLAW ADOPTIONS: NIL

10. NEW BUSINESS:
(127) a. CMHC Housing Accelerator Fund Application

1. THAT Council direct staff to submit a Housing Accelerator Fund Action Plan that
includes the initiatives as generally outlined in the staff report dated August 9, 2023,
along with all additional required documentation to the Canada Mortgage and
Housing Corporation as the Town'’s application under the Housing Accelerator Fund
program.

2. THAT Council authorize the Chief Administrative Officer to enter into any
contribution agreements or amending agreements that may be required should the
Town be approved for funding under the program.

(133) b. Development Variance Permit Application: DVP 23-7 (2250 Manor Place)

That Development Variance Permit DVP 23-7 for 2250 Manor Place be issued subject to
the Development Variance Permit Conditions listed in Schedule 1 of the August 9, 2023
Planning Report on DVP 23-7.
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TOWN OF COMOX
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA OF WEDNESDAY AUGUST 9, 2023

(149)

(204)

(206)

(207)

(209)

C.

CVRD Conveyance Project Nighttime Works

THAT Council delegate authority to administration to review and approve variances to
Bylaw No. 1652 for construction at night for the CVRD Sewer System Conveyance Project
if it aligns with the Traffic Management Strategy which was presented to the Comox
Valley Sewage Commission on February 14, 2023 and attached to this report.

11. NOTICES OF MOTION:

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

a. Notice of Motion from July 12, 2023 RCM: Speed limit in Downtown Core (Councillor
Kerr)
That Administration be directed to prepare a report for Council that:
1. recognises the importance of safety to Comox residents and visitors;
2. evaluates a reduction in the speed limit in Downtown Comox to 30 km/hr, effective
November 1st, 2023; and
3. provides recommendations on piloting a speed limit reduction in one residential
neighbourhood to 30 km/hr, effective November 1st, 2023.
CORRESPONDENCE:
a. Artur Ciastkowski (Comox Valley Record): requesting Town to stop advertising with
Meta platforms and divert a portion of advertising budget to local media
b. Linda Thomas (Filberg Heritage Lodge and Park Association): requesting the Filberg
public washrooms be added to Town cleaning schedule
c. Myrna Logan (MIKI'SIW Metis Association): request for flag raising during Metis Week
and Louis Riel Day
d. Pat Sloan, August 4, 2023: laurel spurge spreading from the golf course
LATE ITEMS:

REPORTS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL:

MEDIA QUESTION PERIOD:

PUBLIC QUESTION PERIOD:

RESOLUTION TO GO IN-CAMERA:

a.

Exclude the Public

That the Public be Excluded from the In-Camera session of Council on Wednesday August
9, 2023 pursuant to the following sub-sections of section 90 of the Community Charter:

(1)(c) labour relations or other employee relations; and
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TOWN OF COMOX
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA OF WEDNESDAY AUGUST 9, 2023

a. Exclude the Public

(2)(b) the consideration of information received and held in confidence relating to
negotiations between the municipality and a provincial government or the federal
government or both, or between a provincial government or the federal
government or both and a third party.

18. RISE AND REPORT FROM IN-CAMERA:

ADJOURNMENT

CORPORATE OFFICER
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TOWN OF COMOX
Minutes of the Regular Council Meeting,
held in Council Chambers on Wednesday July 12, 2023

Present:  Mayor N. Minions

Councillors S. Blacklock, K. Grant, C. Haslett,
J. Kerr, J. Meilleur, M. Swift

Absent: Nil
Staff Present: J. Wall, Chief Administrative Officer
Call to Order:

The meeting was called to order at 4:00 p.m. with 5 members of the public in attendance.

Mayor Minions acknowledged that the Town of Comox is standing on the Unceded traditional territory
of the K'omoks First Nation.

RESOLUTION TO GO IN-CAMERA:
a. Exclude the Public
Exclude the Public

That the Public be Excluded from the In-Camera session of Council on Wednesday July 12, 2023
pursuant to the following sub-sections of section 90 of the Community Charter:

(1)(c) labour relations or other employee relations;

(1)(e) the acquisition, disposition or expropriation of land or improvements, if the council
considers that disclosure could reasonably be expected to harm the interests of the
municipality; and

(2)(b) the consideration of information received and held in confidence relating to
negotiations between the municipality and a provincial government or the federal
government or both, or between a provincial government or the federal
government or both and a third party.

(2023.234) -- CARRIED
THE MEETING WAS CLOSED TO THE PUBLIC AT 4:00 P.M.

THE REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING RECONVENED AT 5:00 P.M.

1. INTRODUCTION AND APPROVAL OF LATE ITEMS:
a. Amendment of Agenda
Amendment of Agenda

That the Agenda be amended to include a staff presentation on the development review process.
(2023.235) -- CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY
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Approval Pending
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TOWN OF COMOX - REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES

2. ADOPTION OF AGENDA:

a. Adoption of the Agenda
Adoption of Agenda

That the July 12, 2023 Regular Council Meeting agenda be Adopted as Amended.
(2023.236) -- CARRIED

3. DELEGATIONS:

a. Certificate of Recognition: Junyi Liu
Certificate of Recognition

Fire Chief Gord Schreiner recounted the quick thinking actions of a very important key member
of the community in responding to a recent motor vehicle accident that resulted in a very fast
moving fire at a local gas station. Mr. Junyi Liu rushed to the burning vehicle and rescued the
driver, bringing her to safety. Chief Schreiner honoured Mr. Liu for his actions and presented
him with a Certificate of Appreciation from the Town of Comox.

b. Drs. Charmaine Enns and Paivi Abernethy (Island Health): Climate change, health and

community planning

Climate Change, Health and

Community Planning
Drs. Enns and Abernethy advised that Island Health has new staff and capacity to work with
local governments on climate adaptation. They advised of a new program they're building and
challenges with drought and water shortages as well as effects of heat on health. They also
advised they are hoping to work with Council in the future.

c. Joanne Schroeder (Building Age Friendly Communities): Partnership on grant application
Building Age Friendly
Communities

Katrina Bray summarized some of the research they are doing in relation to their Building
Intergenerational Connections Project. Katrina advised that they are seeking the interest of the
Town in applying for the Age Friendly Communities Grant on their behalf.

d. Jordan Wall (CAO) and Marvin Kamenz (Director of Development Services): Development
Approval Process

Development Approval
Process

Marvin and Jordan identified what the development approvals process currently looks like, as
well as identified what Council's roles and powers are in the process. They also discussed the
Provincial initiative to Renovate the Public Hearing process and potential changes to the process.

4. ADOPTION OF MINUTES:
a. Regular Council Meeting Minutes
RCM Minutes

That the Minutes of the Regular Meeting of Council, held in Council Chambers on Wednesday
June 7, 2023, be Adopted.
(2023.237) -- CARRIED
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TOWN OF COMOX - REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES

b. Special Council Meeting Minutes

Special Council Meeting
Minutes

1. That the Minutes Special Council Meeting, held in Council Chambers on Wednesday June 14,
2023, be Adopted.
(2023.238) -- CARRIED

2. That the Minutes Special Council Meeting, held in Council Chambers on Wednesday July 5,
2023, be Adopted.
(2023.239) -- CARRIED

5. COUNCIL COMMITTEE MINUTES AND REPORTS:
a. Strategic Planning Committee Meeting Minutes
SPC Meeting Minutes

That the Minutes of the Strategic Planning Committee Meeting, held in Council Chambers on
Wednesday June 14, 2023, be Received.
(2023.240) -- CARRIED

6. CONSENT AGENDA:
a. Consent Agenda
Consent Agenda

That the Consent Agenda items as follows be received for information:
a. Myrna Martin, June 5, 2023, concerned with development and climate change.

b. Donavan Jacobsen, June 5, 2023, requesting improvements to the crosswalk at Cooke and
Anderton.

¢. Bob Bowen, June 6, 2023, questions regarding the new automated collection coming in 2024.
d. Ingrid Brown, June 7, 2023, lack of support for Substance Use Strategy Project.

e. Dave Godfrey, June 9, 2023, Community Event Recognition Request re: #3 Wing RCAF
Zweibrucken Brats Reunion 2023.

f. Jen Williams, June 12, 2023, asking what Council is doing to encourage a more thriving small
business retail community hub for Comox Ave.

g. John Case, June 12, 2023, suggestion for bus route.

h. John Case, June 12, 2023, water meter depth concerns.

. Tanya Sedunow, June 16, 2023, 2024 organic collection suggestions.

J. John & Barbara Neilson, June 22, 2023, requesting a lower speed limit on Balmoral Ave.

k. Lee Everson, Dawn to Dawn, June 26, 2023, Rainbow house update.
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TOWN OF COMOX - REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES

a. Consent Agenda
Consent Agenda

L Colin & Sandra Eves, July 5, 2023, concerned about activities at the Marina after dark.
m. Brenda Locke, Mayor, City of Surrey, impact of Surrey Police transition.
n. Hope Milloy, Island Kids Cancer Association, July 6, 2023, Community Event Recognition request.

o. Kari Dyer, July 7, 2023, screening of soil happening beside her home.
(2023.241) -- CARRIED

7. UNFINISHED BUSINESS:
a. Menstrual Equity and Safer Sex Supplies

Menstrual Equity and Safer
Sex
1. THAT Council authorizes administration to initiate a free menstrual product and safer sex
supplies program in Town owned facilities, listed in Table 1 of the July 6, 2023 Report to
Mayor titled "Menstrual Equity and Safer Sex Supplies”, with an unbudgeted amount of
$12250; and further,

THAT Facilities annual budget be increased by $2,000 to operate the Free Menstrual
Products and Safer Sex Supplies program.

That the main motion be amended to include the washroom facilities within Filberg Park
in the program.
(2023.242) -- CARRIED

2. MAIN MOTION AS AMENDED:

THAT Council authorizes administration to initiate a free menstrual product and safer sex
supplies program in Town owned facilities listed in Table 1 of the July 6, 2023 Report to
Mayor titled “Menstrual Equity and Safer Sex Supplies”, including the washroom facilities
within Filberg Park, with an unbudgeted amount of $12,250; and further,

THAT Facilities annual budget be increased by $2,000 to operate the Free Menstrual
Products and Safer Sex Supplies program.

(2023.243) -- CARRIED
b. Skate Park and Pump Track Discussion
Skate Park and Pump Track

That Council directs staff to prioritize the construction of a hardtop pump track appropriate for a
wide age range, in response to the 2021 Youth Outdoor Recreation Needs Assessment.

(2023.244) -- CARRIED
[Opposed: Councillor JMeilleur]

8. SPECIAL REPORTS: NIL

9. BYLAW ADOPTIONS: NIL
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TOWN OF COMOX - REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES

10. NEW BUSINESS:
a. 2022 Annual Report

Annual Report

That the 2022 Annual Report, as contained in the July 12, 2023 Regular Council Meeting agenda,
be received; and further,

That the 2022 Annual Report be available for public inspection as per section 98(1)(b)
of the Community Charter.

(2023.245) -- CARRIED
11. NOTICES OF MOTION:

a. Notice of Motion: Speed limit in Downtown Core (Councillor Kerr)

Notice of Motion

Notice of Motion to be added to August 9, 2023 RCM agenda:

That Administration be directed to prepare a report for Council that:

1. recognises the importance of safety to Comox residents and visitors;

2. evaluates a reduction in the speed limit in Downtown Comox to 30 km/hr, effective
November 1st, 2023; and

3. provides recommendations on piloting a speed limit reduction in one residential
neighbourhood to 30 km/hr, effective November 1st, 2023.

12. CORRESPONDENCE:

a. Sharon Gregson (Coalition of Child Care Advocates of BC): Request for Council resolution
urging Provincial multi-year funding to support organizational capacity for grant
applications

Child Care Advocates

That the June 3, 2023 email from Sharon Gregson of the Coalition of Child Care Advocates of BC,
requesting that Council adopt a resolution urging the Ministry of Education and Child Care to
provide multi-year funding to local and Indigenous governments and non-profit organizations to
enhance their organizational capacity to coordinate the current grant applications process, be
received and filed for information.

(2023.246) -- CARRIED

b. Marusha Taylor (Pride Society of the Comox Valley): Community Event Recognition
Request

Pride Weekend 2023
That the proclamation and flag-raising request from the Pride Society of the Comox Valley, in
support of Pride Weekend 2023, be approved.
(2023.247) -- CARRIED
c. Paul Whyte (Comox Golf Club): Request for lease extension
Comox Golf Club
That the June 12, 2023 letter from Paul Whyte, President of the Comox Golf Club, requesting that

Council approve a lease extension between the Courtenay Golf Course Ltd. and the Comox Golf
Club Society until December 2065, be received and filed for information.

(2023.248) -- CARRIED
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TOWN OF COMOX - REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES

d. Jessie Gill (Comox Valley Early Years Collaborative): Requesting a Council representative

CV Early Years Collaborative

That the June 14, 2023 email from Jessie Gill of the Comox Valley Early Years Collaborative,
requesting that Council appoint a representative, be received and that Councillor Swift attend the
Comox Valley Early Years Collaborative meetings in an unofficial capacity.

(2023.249) -- CARRIED

e. Leslie Kellett (City of Prince George): Sharing resolution and asking for support at the
2023 UBCM Convention

Prince George Resolution

That the June 28, 2023 email from Leslie Kellett, Deputy Corporate Officer with the City of Prince
George, requesting support of a UBCM resolution that local governments be reimbursed for
medical services provided by local government fire and rescue services, be received and filed for
information.

(2023.250) -- CARRIED
f. Pete Chambers, President (Comox BIA): 2023 Halloween Parade and Mayor Tree Lighting
Comox BIA Support

That the June 27, 2023 letter from Pete Chambers of the Comox BIA, requesting $2,200 for the
Halloween Costume Parade and $5,900 for the Mayor's Tree Lighting and Winter Market, be
received and the request granted.

(2023.2517) -- CARRIED
13. LATE ITEMS: NIL

14. REPORTS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL:

a. Councillor Blacklock

Councillor Blacklock advised that he attended:
- a Community Justice Centre meeting, and
- a Comox Valley Substance Use Strategy meeting.

b. Councillor Swift

Councillor Swift advised that she attended a Filberg Heritage Lodge and Park Association
meeting.

c. Councillor Haslett
Councillor Haslett advised that he attended a d'Esterre Seniors meeting.

d. Councillor Kerr

Councillor Kerr thanked the K'omoks First Nation for hosting Indigenous Peoples Day and
advised that he attended the Regional District meetings.

e. Councillor Grant

Councillor Grant advised that he attended:

- a North Island 911 meeting,

- the regional solid waste management meeting, and
- the regional district sewer commission meeting.

f. Councillor Meilleur

Councillor Meilleur advised that she has nothing to report.
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TOWN OF COMOX - REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES

g. Mayor Minions

Mayor Minions advised that:

- the Town issued a letter of support for Courtenay, and Courtenay was selected, to have a Peer
Assisted Care Team;

- she attended a tour of the d'Esterre Cypress Gardens on Balmoral Avenue; and

- she attended a couple of leadership meetings reviewing upcoming Provincial changes
regarding housing;

17. RESOLUTION TO GO IN-CAMERA:
a. Exclude the Public
Exclude the Public

That the Public be Excluded from the In-Camera session of Council on Wednesday July 12, 2023
pursuant to the following sub-sections of section 90 of the Community Charter:

(1)(c) labour relations or other employee relations;

(1)(e) the acquisition, disposition or expropriation of land or improvements, if the council
considers that disclosure could reasonably be expected to harm the interests of the
municipality; and

(2)(b) the consideration of information received and held in confidence relating to
negotiations between the municipality and a provincial government or the federal
government or both, or between a provincial government or the federal
government or both and a third party.
(2023.252) -- CARRIED

THE MEETING WAS CLOSED TO THE PUBLIC AT 8:02 P.M.
THE REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING RECONVENED AT 9:32 P.M.

18. RISE AND REPORT FROM IN-CAMERA: NIL

Adjournment:

Regularly moved and seconded that the meeting adjourn at 9:32 p.m. CARRIED

Certified correct pursuant to Section 97(1)(b) of the Community Charter.

MAYOR

CORPORATE OFFICER
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June 9, 2023

Dear Comox Council,

My name is Ainslee. | am in grade five and go to Brooklyn Elementary. | love animals and

books.

Recently, my class and | went on a field trip to Mack Laing park with Archeologist Dr. Morrin and
| learned alot of things that should be shared with the world. So, | am asking if you could work
with the K'omoks First Nation to add some signs to inform other people about the 2,500 years
that the Pentlatch lived there, and maybe some fencing around the Middens to protect them.
Perhaps you could add some information on the veiwing platform you are going to build.

Some things | learned that you can put on the signs are: If you see a lot of clamshells not in
their natural habitat, it's problably a Midden. A single Midden can have billions of clamshelis.
Clams are not all the Pentlatch people ate, though. They also ate lots of salmon (particulaly
chum,) they hunted deer and elk, ate berries and something called camas. The Pentlatch
people had to travel down the river by boat to get to the camas, but when they returned they
would have boatloads of it. Then they would cook the camas by burrying it really deep.
Suprisingly, there were lots of oysters, but the Pentltch people never ate them. Also, “Pentlatch”
means “berry belly” because there was tons of food where they lived.

People should learn this information so that they can undersand the past and respect the
Pentlatch people a little more. The K'omoks First Nation would apreciate it if you shared their

past with the world. It would really help with reconciliation.

In conclusion, you should add some signs to explain the history of the Pentlatch People, and
fencing to protect the Middens. Thank you for considering my request.

Sincerely,

AinSlee
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June, 2023

Dear Comox Council,

My name is Alice Cathro. I am in 5% grade at BrookIn Elementary School.

I'm writing to you to ask you if you could add some signs in Mack Laing Park to teach people
about the Pentlatch people that lived there for 2,500 years. I think it would be very helpful for
residents of the Comox Valley. It would be especially helpful for residents that are new to the area
and would love to learn about the history of Mack Laing Park. I think even visitors would like to
learn about it.

My class went on a field trip to the park and learned some very interesting information
about the Pentlatch people from archaeologist, Jesse Morrin. They’d been living there for 2,500
years. The Pentlatch people built houses called “big houses.” They built fish traps that helped catch
different types of fish, mainly a variety of salmon. One of the main ways the Pentlatch people would
get herring eggs was descending a cedar or hemlock branch into the water and scraping the eggs
off. The Pentlatch people also ate a root called “camas.” They roasted the camas and ate it like a
potato. Camas was traded for food and goods from other nations. Another main source of food for
the Pentlatch people was clams. They ate a variety of clam species such as Butter clams, Manila
clams, and Razor clams. It was super cool to see the middens that were made from broken up clam
shells from when the people used to live here.

I think it is very important that people learn about the Pentlatch people living in Mack Laing
Park, not only because people would find it fascinating, but because it is a form of reconciliation and
healing for Indigenous people. I would love and hope to see Comox Council and K'émoks First
Nation working together to create signage in Mack Laing Park about the Pentlatch people who lived
here for 2,500 years.

In conclusion, I think that the whole Comox Valley community would be very satisfied and
content if signage was made. We would all learn so much from it. So, please take this into
consideration.

Sincerely, Alice Cathro
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June 9, 2023
Dear Comox Council,

My name is Nicky Benson. | am a grade six at Brooklyn Elementary
School.

Recently, my class visited Mack Laing Park and it has come to my, and
my classes attention that there are few to no signs in Mack Laing Park talking
about the Pentlatch people. We as a class believe that there should be signage
telling park users about the Indigenous people who lived there for 2,500 years,
and protection around the middens

There are many things that you can put on the signs to help inform the
people walking in the park. For example, the Pentlatch people ate tons of clams
and salmon but, they ate no oysters. Or they built their houses in a way that they
could remove the planks and move to a different place. All of these things were
taught to me by Archeologist Jesse Morrin. You could ask him for ideas for what
could be put up on these signs and consult with the K’omoks First Nation.

If we add these signs, then it would help towards reconciliation with the
K'omoks First Nations. It would acknowledge the people who lived there before
us and took care of the land we live on.

In conclusion, | encourage you to put up some signs around the park and
fences around the middens to help teach the park users about the Pentlatch

people and protect the land.

Sincerely,

ek Benson

Nicky Benson
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June 9, 2023
Dear Comox Council,

My name is Martina. | live in K'omoks, and | go to Brooklyn Elementary School. | am in grade 6.

I want to ask you to build SUPER cool and interesting signs about the Pentlatch people that
lived in what is now called Mack Laing Park because we need more information about what they
did, ate, and how they lived. | also wanted to ask if you could please build at least tiny fences
around the middens and a tiny sign that explains what middens are, why they are important.

My class and | went on a field trip with Archaeolest Dr. Morrin. We learnd that the Pentlatch
people lived there for 2,500 years. Also that they liked to eat fish, especially chum because it
would last longer for storage after they dried it. They ate butter clams, little neck clams and
more. We also learned that there are some bones of Indigenous People that lived there. The
middens contain charcoal, shells and Pentlatch People food waste. We learned that “Pentlatch”
means “Berry Belly” or “ Full Belly” because K'omoks had alot of fish, berries, and shells. They
had houses in front of the ocean shore so they could leave their canoes close to their houses.
They could take apart there houses because they were made of cedar wooden tree planks, so
they could take the planks off and transport them with their canoes to other places with more
people, food or just to change places.

We should learn this type of information because we need to honor our ansestors. Also because
we want to focus on reconciliation by building more signs about the Pentlatch people, fences
around the Middens, and more of what you could think of.

In general | want you to please build signs about the Pentlatch people and about Indigenous
Middens through the paths of Mack Laing Park so we can learn more about the Land and the
Pentlatch people that lived here way before us. | think you should suport us because we have a
voice and some of the thinking and saying we do IS important. So thank-you for trying your best
to do these things, and for taking your time in reading this letter.

Sincerely,

Martina

Aug 9, 2023 RCM Agenda Page 21



June, 2023
Dear Comox Council,
My name is Garrett and my school is Brooklyn Elementary. I’'m in grade six.

| would like to teach others how the Pentlatch used to live in the Brooklyn Creek area for 2,500

years. | learned from an acheologist named Dr. Morrin with my class.

He showed us that the Pentlach people liked shell fish but not oysters. They also liked salmon

such as chum and a root vegteble called camus.

We know that they ate shell fish and salmon because we found shell fish shells and fish bones
on water banks and in large mounds called Middens. He also told us about how there might be

bones under the middens too.

You could show the history of the middens in Mack laing park by creating signs to educate
people. Also it would be important to protect the middens by building fences and have viewing

platforms to show them how people lived there for 2,500 years.

I would like you to this because people should know the history of the middens, Pentlatch and
Coast Salish People. | want others to have to have the cool experience that | had learning

about all of this while acknowledging the First Nations People.

Thank you for taking you time to read what | wrote.

Sincerely,
Ol Y ﬁ/

Garrett.
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June, 2023 &

Dear Comox Council,

Hi my name is madeline kelly and | go to Brooklyn Elementary and I’'m currently in grade five, |
am asking you for somthing really important for this town...

| was hoping you could put some signs up around Mack Laing park so people could see that
the park was once home to hundreds of Puntledge People and that they lived there for over
(2500 ) years.

| recently went on a feild trip with archaeologist Dr. Morrin and | discovered that there are
remains of big houses in Mack laing park ( forest ). And that there are remains of puntledge
people and the clam shells left on th beach are the ones that they ate and put back on the
beach and in the forest. The puntledge people lived there for over 2500 years ( wow ) thats a
long time!

| think that this is an important request that should happen and | think that people need to
learn more about the history of Indigenous people and their culture. | know a lot about the
terrible history that happend to indigenous people in canada and if we put some signs up then

more and more people can learn about indigenous people and how they used to live 2500
years ago!

The reason I'm asking for these signs to show the history of puntledge people is because its
important for this town and our comunity!

Thankyou so much for taking the time to read and consider my request!

Sincerely, MK!
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June 9, 2023
Dear Comox Council,

My name is Jersey and I'm in grade 6. | go to Brooklyn elementry school .

| am writing to you to ask for there to be some signs at the middens in Mack Laing Park and
along the trail so that people know about them and don’t step on the Middens. If people don't
know about it they will just walk on it and eventualy it will no longer be there. So | am asking for
some signs to educate people and to keep the middens safe. The middens were the Pentlatch
people’s land that we need to keep safe.

You should also check out Archeologist Jesse Morrin. He taught us a lot and he has taought us
about the shell beds and the diffrent shells. He showed us where Halmilton Mack Laing’s
houses were and proof that the Indigenous people used to live there. Overall, | think it would be
great to educate people more about the Indigenous people and about the middens.

We should learn about this so people know about the middens and Indigenous people, and
what it was like back then and how they lived. We need to keep the middens safe and the
Indigenous peoples land safe.

| think we should get this done not just for the middens but for the people.

Sincerely,

Jersey webber
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June 9, 2023

Dear Comox Council,

My name is Saskia and | am a grade 5 student at Brooklyn Elementary School.
I am writing you to ask that you put up more signs regarding the Pentlatch people in Mack Laing

Park. | also think it's important to work on preserving the middens.

My class went on a field trip with Archeologist Jesse Morin and | learned that there are
countless clamshells in the middens. Other things you can find in the middens are charcoal,
ashes, bones, and berries. The middens are basically the Indigenous landfills.

Pentlatch people were living in that park and people deserve to know it. You need to make the
signs for more reconciliation. You should also block off the middens so that little kids who don't
know any better won't ruin the history by jumping on them.

In conclusion you must make more of an efort to give people information about the Pentlatch
people.

Sincerely,

Saskia

Saskiay
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June 9, 2023

Dear Comox Council,

My name is Brynly Peter and | am in grade 5 at Brooklyn Elementary School.

We want you to put some signs up in Mack Laing Park so that people can learn about the
middens. We also encourage you tos put up some fences so people do not destroy the
middens. We want you to help the Pentlatch people who were there for so long by making sure

the land is not destroyed by people now. We are building homes on the Pentlatch People
graves!

| learned that the Pentlatch People came here a long time ago. They found ways to live without
all of this technology that we have now. They needed to find ways to survive. They used wood
or bark to make nets or tools.

We want you to put up some signs for the middens or put up some fences for the Pentlatch
people. Archaeologist Dr.Morrin could help create the signs about the Pentlatch People and
the Indigenous people.

We are hurting the Pentlatch people’s middens and homes so my class is asking you to help
the Pentlatch people. This will help people who go in the park to learn about the Pentlatch
people.

Thank you for reading this letter

Sincerely,

From Brynly peter.

Byn1y Pejes
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June 21, 2023
Dear Comox Council,
My name is Stella Lefebvre. I'm a grade six student in Brooklyn Elementary.

I recently visited a park in K'omoks First Nation with my class. | started
wondering about the First Nation and how they lived in ancient history. It would
be great if the Comox Council could work with the K’'omoks Band to add signs to
parks about the First Nation’s history.

| was recently able to learn from Dr. Jesse Morrin. He taught my class about
Indigenous culture, as well as how they could move to different homes. They had
wood structures, and if they wanted to move, they would take apart their
buildings and cary it with them to find a place to rebuild.

I think it’s important to have signs around the Town of Comox, that explains the
First Nation’s history and how they lived in this area. It would help local people
and tourists learn more about the First Nation. More importantly, it would help
heal the relationsips with the First Nation, and recognize how important their
history is.

It's necessary for the Comox Council to talk to the K'omoks First Nation to add
signs to parks about their history. It would help the community to learn more
about the First Nation and how they lived.

Sincerely,

Stella Lefebvre
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June 9, 2023

Dear Comox Council,

My name is Fin, | am in grade 6 and go to Brooklyn elementary school just down the road from you.

Me and my class are writing to you because we just went to Mack Laing park and saw the First Nations
middens with Jesse Morrin (archeologist). We saw that there were no signs about Mack Laing and the
K’omoks First Nation. We are also asking for you to fence off some of the middens too.

If other people know the history, they will try to preserve it! We learned that the Pentlatch people lived
here for 2500 years! Theys did not like oysters but they loved clams and salmon {(Chum). Usually where
the middens were, a house was there. We think that you should put that information on some of the
signs in Mack Laing park.

People should know the history of Mack laing and the K’omoks First Nation/Pentlatch people. You
should put signs up by some of the middens that say stuff about them like, “This is a midden. Itis a
landfill that the K’'omoks First Nation created over 2500 years!” Then people won’t climb on them and
destroy them.

In conclusion, people should know what the big shell piles are and who made them. The signs that are
there are great, but they don’t say a word about the K’omoks First Nation. We think that they should
acknowledge the First Nations that have been here.

Sincerely,

Fin

Fin
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June 8%, 2023
Dear Comox Council,

My name is Kaiya Evans and I’'m a grade 5 student at Brooklyn Elementary.

| would like you to team up with the K’omoks First Nation and create signs in Mack Laing Park
that teach park users about the Indigenous history of the Pentlatch people that lived in the area
for 2500 years. Mack Laing park was named after after Hamilton Mack Laing.

On Friday June 2™ my class went to Mack Laing Park and learnd about the Penlatch people
with Archaeologist Dr. Jesse Morrin. When we where there, we saw shell beds and walked
where the Pentlatch people lived, ate, and walked. The Pentlatch people ate butter clams, little
neck clams, cockles, and salmon (mostly chum).

In Mack Laing Park, there are lots of signs about plants but barely any signs about the
Pentlatch People. It would be really nice if you could put up some signs about the Pentlatch
people.

In conclusion, it would be nice if you could put up signs in Mack Laing Park. | think lots of
people would enjoy it and learn about the Pentlatch people.

Sincerely,
Kaiya Evans

]Ld\\éa L
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June, 2023

Dear Comox Council,

My name is Brecken, and I'm in grade 5 at Brooklyn Elementary. This letter is about Mack Laing

park. The middens need fencing and signs.

I'm asking for you to make signs that talk about the history of Indigenous people in mack laing
park,and put fencing around the middens in Mack Laing park to acknowledge the Pentlatch
people who lived there before us for 2500 years.

Archaeologist Dr. Morrin said the middens are very big piles of the clam shels, ash and fire
cracked rocks that houses were built on by the Indigenous people who lived there for about
2500 years.

If we don’t teach people about the history people will never know People would want to learn
about the Indigenous people.

Please put signs and fencing aroud the middens in Mack Laing park to acknowledge the
pentlatch people who lived there before us. It would be something people would wnt to learn
about.

Thanks for taking your time to read this.

C ke

Sincerely,
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June 9 2023
Dear Comox Council,

My name is Julien | am a grade 5 student at Brooklyn elementary school. We recently went on a
field trip to the Mack Laing park it was really fun.

We want you to work with the K’'omoks First Nation to create signs and fences to teach people
about the land and protect it.

A guy named Jessie morrin came in and taght us about the Pentlach people. It was really cool
and | learnd a lot. Here are some things | learned about the Pentlach people. They ate a lot of
fish, mostly chum. They ate lots of clams, mostley butter clams, little neck clams, and cockles.
They also ate a root vegetable called camas.

If you make the fences and the signs it will help people recognize who lived here first and it will
help protect the land. | hope you take my request clearly. Thank you so much for taking time
and effort to read this.

Sincerely,

anlief)

Julien
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June, 2023

Dear Comox Council,

My name is Jacob. | go to Brooklyn elementary. | am in grade 6.

I'm asking you to please put up signs to tell people about the First Nations people who lived in
Mack Laing Park. Many people are just walking down the forest not knowing what the shell
beds are.

| went on a fieldtrip and learned that that First Nations eat a lot of shells and that they love
salmon. They used tools or a rake that with nails on it to collect herring.

Signs about the Pentlatch people would be good because it’s good to learn about it and helps
with reconciliation.

In conclusion, | think that you should put up signs to help people learn about the First Nations
that lived there.

Sincerely,

J‘O\L Ob

Jacob
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June, 2023

Dear Comox Council,

My name is brady. | go to Brooklyn Elementry and | am in grade 5.

I think that there should be some signs at Mack laing park that say the history of the Pentlach

people and some fencing to keep people off of the middens to preserve the middens.

I just went on a feild trip with my class and archeologist Jesse Morrin. We learned that the
Pentlach people lived there for 2,500 years. They ate a lot of fish and clams but not
oysters.They moved from one house to a second house.

People should know about the history of the the Pentlach people to help reconciliation.

You can help lots of people learn the history and help preserve the middens and help with

reconciliation.

Sincerely, Brady
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June, 2023

Dear Comox Council,

My name is Dylan Ledgard and | go to Brooklyn Elementary school in grade 6.

I would like you to create signs that teach park users about the Indigenous history of Mack
Laing Park area.

Archeologist Jesse Morrin taught me that at Mack Laing park for a long time, people used to
throw their clams in one spot, so overtime it grew bigger. Houses were long and transportable,

so when they wanted or needed to move, they took them apart.

People should learn about this because we need to remember what it was like then. It helps
with reconciliation by people knowing who used to live there.

In conclusion, | want you to create signs that teach park users about the Indigenous history of
that area.

Sincerely,

Dylan
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Jun 20, 2023

Dear Comox Town Council,

My name is Meadow and I’'ma grade six student from Brooklyn Elementary. I'm writing you today to ask

for you to put up signs in the Mack Laing Park about the First Nations People that used to live there.
Information should be more accessible for people. it's nota secret so why don't you have signs about it?
People should know the past about the middens and who used to live there. The Pentlatch People lived
and fished in this area for 2500 years. Our class had a field trip and and an archaeologist named Jesse
Morrin came. | remember him saying that the Pentlatch used to put dead bodies in boxes and hang them
up on trees | found this interesting, and | think that you should put it on signs because other people might
find this interesting. He also said that they could tell what they mostly ate that year like salmon, herring
or clams by looking at the middens. I think if you put up signs that will help towards reconciliation.

Follow s

Sincerely,

Meadow Fallows
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June, 2023

Dear Comox Council,

My name is Kai Bevans and I’'m in grade 6 at Brooklyn Elementary School.

I’'m asking you to please put up signs to tell the people of Comox about the Indigenous
people that have lived in Mack Lane park for 2500 years.

| recently went to a on a field trip and we learned from an Archeologist named Jesse Morrin all
about the Indigenous people that lived in Mack Laing Park. We learned about all the things that
the Indigenous people did, like eating different types of clams, fishing, finding herbs and the
tools they used.

People should know about this stuff because the history of Mack Laing Park is a mystery
because the park is a good way to learn about the Indigenous people that lived in Mack Laing
park for 2500 years......if you think about it, it's interesting.

I’m just saying that you should put up signs to show that Indigenouns people have lived in
Mack Laing park for years.

I don’t want people walking on Indigenous peoples remains because it is disrespectful to the
people, so putting up signs to show the people of Comox about the history of the indigenous
who lived in the area.

This is a good way to show respect to those indigineous that lived in the park of Mack Laing
for 2500 year in the park.

Sincerly

KAl BEVANS from Brooklyn Elementary School.
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Copies - Council 23-276 09AU A2 A3

-JW/SR/LP FILE: ACTION: B—
Town of Comox — Administration 0400-80 MR 0Jul2023
From: NIC President <president@nic.bc.ca> TOWN OF COMOX
Sent: July 20, 2023 12:59 PM
To: Town of Comox — Administration
Subject: North Island College's BUILD 2026 Strategic Plan and Year 2 Dashboard Report
Attachments: BUILD 2026 Strategic Plan and Year 2 Dashboard.pdf

*Warning* This E-Mail originated from outside The Town of Comox. *Please open with Caution*

Dear Mayor and Council,

The North Island College (NIC) community has been working together for two years under the guidance of our
strategic plan, BUILD 2026, and we are very pleased to share our progress with you in the attached BUILD 2026
Strategic Plan and Year 2 Dashboard. The dashboard provides updates on the itemized, measurable goals of
this visionary plan, offering inspiring news on expanded educational opportunities that are helping to
strengthen this region, from Bamfield to Bella Coola.

BUILD 2026 was developed through meaningful consultation with the First Nations and communities that NIC
has the honour and privilege of serving. Your ongoing input continues to inform this responsive document, as it
navigates us toward our mission of working together to build healthy and thriving communities, one student at
a time.

BUILD 2026 serves in tandem with NIC’s overarching Indigenization plan, Working Together. These plans are
further supported by Widening Our Doorways (ensuring all learning at NIC is relevant and accessible),
Journeying Together (connecting international students and faculty with Indigenous perspectives) and The
CARE? Plan (supporting the mental health and wellbeing of all members of the college community). The five
plans and their dashboard reports (as published) are shared on Engage NIC, where we encourage your
feedback.

Please reach out to Danielle Hoogland, Community Engagement Liaison if you wish to discuss our progress on
the initiatives in BUILD 2026 or share your vision of how we can better support communities across the region
through post-secondary education.

North Island College is honoured to acknowledge the traditional territories of the combined 35 First Nations of the Nuu-
chah-nulth, Kwakwaka’wakw and Coast Salish traditions, on whose traditional and unceded territories the College’s
campuses are situated.

1
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LOG: REFER: AGENDA:
RECEIVE“ ro— 23-211 RCM

g‘aﬁ FILE: ACTION: 09Aug2023
21Jul2023 {AYEARS 0390-01 MR
o - cfile
TOWN OF COMOX RESOURCE BREAKFAST Copies - Council
SERIES -JW/SR/LP

Mayor and Council
1809 Beauford Avenue,
Comox, BC, VOIM 1R9

Dear Mayor and Council,
Re: Invitation to the 10" Annual Resource Break ast Series — Se tember 19 21 22 2023

It is my pleasure to invite you to attend the /0" Annual Resource Breakfast Series scheduled for September 19, 21
and 22, 2023 at the Terminal City Club in Vancouver, BC. Over the past decade, the Resource Breakfast Series
has become a staple event bringing together Mayors, Councillors, the Resource Sector and Provincial
Government for meaningful conversations that help drive progress amongst the communities in British Columbia.

Event Details:
Date: Se tember 19, 21, 22, 2023 Location: Terminal City Club, Vancouver
Time: 7:00 —8:30 am Dress Code: Business Casual
Style: Plated Breakfast Price: $31.00 + tax er breakfast

Re istration: htt s://www.eventbrite.ca/e/10th-annual-resource-breakfast-series-tickets-664748339177

The 10th iteration of the event will provide a platform for Resource Ministers to engage and share the latest
initiatives and developments from their Ministries. We are pleased to announce the following Ministers have
confirmed to speak over the span of three mornings: Honourable Josie Osborne, Minister of Energy, Mines and
Low Carbon Innovation, Honourable Bruce Ralston, Minister of Forests and Honourable Nathan Cullen,
Minister of Water, Land and Resource Stewardship.

The Resource Breakfast Series is not affiliated with the Union of BC Municipalities but is conveniently hosted
during the Annual Convention and offers a friendly and relaxed environment to discuss BC’s natural resource
sector and its importance to the communities and economy of the province. This is an invite only event to local
area government leaders, Provincial Ministers, MLAs, and MPs.

We look forward to seeing you at the 10th Annual Resource Breakfast Series. Please reach out if you have any
questions.

Sincerely

Sarah Weber, .Geo., MB
President & CEO, C3 Alliance Corp.

T R ,; L 3

[ \ ' m)’ - “‘ 580 — 688 West Hastings Street (604) 343-4847
mmmdss N U Vancouver, British Columbia info@c3alliancecorp.ca
G Comm tmen), G V6B 1P1, Canada www.c3alliancecorp.ca
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| National Defence Défense nationale
National Defence Headquarters ~ Quartier général de la Défense nationale
Ottawa, Ontario Ottawa (Ontario)
K1A OK2 K1A OK2

RECEIVED

JUL 18 2023 JUL 26 2023

Her Worship Nicole Minions TOWN OF COMOX

Mayor of Comox

Office of the Mayor LOG: REFER: AGENDA: o - cfile

1809 Beaufort Avenue 22-287 RCM Copies - Council
Comox BC VOM 1R9 FILE: ACTION: 09AUg2023 - JW/SR/MK/LP
Dear Madam Mayor: 6640-01 fle

I am writing in response to your letter of February 8, 2023, addressed to the Honourable
Anita Anand, Minister of National Defence, requesting the Department of National

Defence (DND) to examine the Comox Airport Zoning Regulations in view of advancements
in other airport zoning regulations and the housing crises in the Comox Valley. The Minister
has asked the Department to review your correspondence and reply on her behalf.

I appreciate your comments and the issues raised, and I am pleased to share with you the
following update. The Assistant Deputy Minister (Infrastructure and Environment),

1 Canadian Air Division, and 19 Wing Comox have created an Aerodrome Zoning Program
to address the Aerodrome Zoning Regulations (AZR) at all DND aerodromes, including
Comox, which is the initial acrodrome for redeveloping appropriate AZRs.

I understand that the Air Zoning Program staff are planning to meet with the City of Comox
and Courtenay to better understand their future development plans. In this regard, the Royal
Canadian Air Force (RCAF) is committed to working with our civic partners in their
development efforts while ensuring future operational effectiveness of the RCAF.

Should you require further information, I invite you to contact Isabelle Beaudin, Senior
Geomatics Analyst, Director Real Property Services, by email at LROAerodromeZonin -
BEIZona eAero ortuaire forces. c.ca

I hope that this information is helpful, and thank you for writing.

Yours sincerely,

Doat

Anne Bank
Acting National Defence Corporate Secretary

anada
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LOG2:3-289 REFER: AGENDA: Canada c munily_l

RCM
FILE: ACTION: 09Aug2023 Fund BC
1855-03/C\ file

o - cfile 1855-03/CWF
Copies - Council
- JW/CF/SR/LP

Mayor Nicole Minions and Council
Town of Comox

1809 Beaufort Avenue

Comox, BC VOM 1R9

July 26, 2023

Dear Mayor Nicole Minions and Council:

RE: CANADA COMMUNITY-BUILDING FUND: FIRST COMMUNITY WORKS FUND
PAYMENT FOR 2023/2024

| am pleased to advise that UBCM is in the process of distributing the first Community Works
Fund (CWF) payment for fiscal 2023/2024. An electronic transfer of $352,367.79 is expected
to occur in August 2023. This payment is made in accordance with the payment schedule
set out in your CWF Agreement with UBCM (see section 4 of your Agreement).

CWF is made available to eligible local governments by the Government of Canada
pursuant to the Administrative Agreement. Funding under the program may be directed to
local priorities that fall within one of the eligible project categories.

Further details regarding use of CWF and project eligibility are outlined in your CWF
Agreement and details on the Canada Community-Building Fund can be found on our
website

For further information, please contact Canada Community-Building Fund Program Services
by e-mail at ccbf ubcm.ca or by phone at 250-356-5134

Sincerely,

ﬂf@,ﬁw\d

Councillor Jen Ford
UBCM President

PC: Clive Freundlich, Director of Finance
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RECEIVED LOG: REFER: AGENDA:
23-283 o - cfile

RCM - :
3LJuly2023  |FLE: ACTION: 0oAugzo3 | COPies - Coundil

5380-01 | MR - JW/SR/SA/LP
TOWN OF COMOX
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Office of the Chair

770 Harmston Avenue, Courtenay BC VON 0G8
Tel: 250-334-6000 Fax: 250-334-4358

Toll free: 1-800-331-6007
www.comoxvalleyrd.ca

02Aug2023 File: 6410-20/CV RGS Amendment

August 2, 2023

TOWN OF COMOX Sent via: russwurm@comox.ca
Mayor and Council
Town of Comox LOG: REFER: AGENDA: o - cfile
1809 Beaufort Avenue 23-288 RCM Copies - Council
Comox, BC VOM 1R9 FILE: ACTION: 09Aug2023 - JW/SR/MK/SA/LP

0400-60 MR

Dear Mayor and Council:

Re:  Initiation of Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, Amendment No. 2

This letter is to advise the Town of Comox Mayor and Council of the initiation of a process to amend the
Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy using a minor amendment process and provide notice to consult
with affected local governments and First Nations. The proposed minor amendment will:

e Update population and employment projections, and greenhouse gas emissions reduction targets;
e Update mapping to reflect municipal incorporation of previously electoral area lands;

e Update language to reflect K’6moks First Nation’s treaty process (in accordance with K’6moks First
Nation’s direction);

e Add reference to “Regional Growth Strategy Action Plans” as a Regional Growth Strategy
implementation tool; and

e Remove obsolete references (e.g. “Comox Valley Economic Development Society”).

A report will be provided in the Fall of 2023 to our Board that will include a a consultation plan for
consideration. The Town of Comox will have an opportunity to comment on the draft bylaw prior to first
reading as per the approved consultation plan.

Full details of the Regional Growth Strategy is available online at https://www.comoxvalleyrd.ca/RGS. If
you have any questions in the meantime, please contact Alana Mullaly, General Manager of Planning and
Development Setvices, at amullaly@comoxvalleyrd.ca.

Sincerely,

Jesse Ketler
Chair

cc: James Warren, Acting Chief Administrative Officer
Alana Mullaly, General Manager of Planning and Development Services
Robyn Holme, Manager of LLong Range and Sustainability Planning
Jordan Wall, Chief Administrative Officer

The Comox V alley Regional District respectfully acknowledges the land on which it operates is
on the unceded traditional territory of the K 'omoks First Nation, the traditional keepers of this land.
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AGENDA:

mug

RECEIVED L:

0400-03

Copies - Council

02Aug2023

TOWN OF COMOX -JW/SR/LP
COMMUNITY EVENT RECOGNITION REQUEST FORM

Requests must be received at least four (4) weeks prior to the date of proclamation, flag raising or
building lighting. Requests may be mailed to: Comox Town Hall, 1809 Beaufort Avenue, Comox BC
VIM 1R9 or e-mailed to town@comox.ca. Telephone enquiries should be directed to Town Hall Reception

at (250) 339-2202 during regular business hours Monday to Friday 8:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m.

Organization you are representing:

United Way British Columbia

Primary purpose of Organization: Number of
United Way BC supports the development of healthy, caring, and inclusive members:
communities by strengthening vital connections 200+
Mailing address of Organization: Contact Name:
#9-327 Prideaux Street, Nanaimo, BC, VIR 2N4 Julia Jachimowicz

Phone:

604-294-8653
City: Postal Code: Email:
Nanaimo VIR 2N4 JuliaJ@uwbc.ca

Type of Community Event Recognition Requested (choose all that you are requesting):

Building Lighting

Proclamation D Flag-Raising
Red
Tuesday,September 26 (Colours - maximum 2 colours)
(Dates — day, week or month) (Dates - maximum 7 days) Tuesday,September 26
(Dates - maximum 7 days)

[ Civic Promotion
[J Public Awareness Campaign

Purpose of Event Recognition (please check all that apply):

Y] Charitable Fundraising Campaign L] Other (specify):

O Arts and Cultural Celebration
[ Special Honour of Individual

See attached

Description of Organization and relevant information related to your request (attach additional page if needed):

Has a similar request been submitted in the past five years?

[:] YES (provide date of previous request): NO

Describe any special initiatives or events planned in the Town of Comox as part of this Event Recognition:

United Way is hosting a kick-off breakfast in Nanaimo on September 26, 2023 that the residents of
Comox are welcome to attend. United Way BC Day is an opportunity to show your community that you
are #HereforBC and show us your red!

Date of application:

02-Aug-2023

Signature of applicant: Print name:

Julia Jachimowicz

DRAFT WORDING OF PROCLAMATION TO BE INCLUDED ON REVERSE

H:\Policies\Community Events Recognition Policy\04 Community Event Recognition Request Form.docx
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Draft wording of Proclamation:

Note, the Town of Comox may revise this wording of the Proclamation. As appropriate, the cause should outline the local
significance and demonstrate the local connection and/or how it benefits the majority of the citizens of Comox.

1. WHEREAS for over 90 years, United Way British Columbia has supported the
development of healthy, caring and inclusive communities across the province, helping
those who need it the most.

2. WHEREAS United Way British Columbia helps people of all ages — from children to
seniors — meet their basic needs through child and youth, food access, mental health,
seniors and confidential referral (211) programs as well as supporting communities in
times of crisis.

3. WHEREAS United Way British Columbia is responsive in finding new and innovative
ways to meet the changing and complex needs of our communities, the people who
live in them and the social sector that serves them.

4. WHEREAS at the heart of United Way British Columbia's work is local, community
driven solutions fueled by the commitment and caring of United Way British Columbia's
partners — social services, businesses, government, generous donors, passionate
volunteers, Labour and hardworking community champions.

5. WHEREAS United Way BC Day is an opportunity to emphasize the importance of
local love in action in the Town of Comox, and to recognize United Way British
Columbia's ongoing commitment to offering essential supports and services to
Comox's residents thus building a strong, healthy and resilient community.

OFFICE USE ONLY

Request meets Community Event Recognition Policy (YES/NO): x

If NO:

gGroup not located in Comox Valley

[:] Event/Request related to political, ideological or religious beliefs
D Event/Request contrary to Town policy or bylaw

C] Campaign intended for profit-making

Community Flag Raising: Dates (max 7 days)

Light-up of Town Hall: Dates (max 7 days)

Personal information you provide on this form is collected pursuant to Section 26 of the Freedom of Information and
Protection of Privacy Act, and this form may be published in its entirety with public meeting agendas, which are also
posted on the Town website at http://comox.ca. The information is used for processing the Proclamation Request
forms. Questions about this collection of information can be made to Town Hall at (250) 339-2202.

H:\Policies\Community Events Recognition Policy\0O4 Community Event Recognition Request Form.docx
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Al A2 A3 A4

Union of BC
Municipalities

RECEIVED

02Aug2023
August 2, 2023 TOWN OF COMOX
o . |Loa: REFER: AGENDA: o - cfile
_I\r/layor I}/Ignons and Council 23-292 RCM Copies - Council
own Ot ~.omox FILE: ACTION: 09Aug2023 - JW/CF/GS/SR
1809 Beaufort Avenue 1855-03 MR

Comox, BC V9M 1R9

Reference: AP8180

Re: 2023 Next Generation 911 Funding — Approval Agreement & Terms and
Conditions of Funding

Dear Mayor Minions and Council,

| am pleased to inform you that a grant in the amount of $45,000 has been approved for
the Town of Comox under the Next Generation 911 funding program that is being
administered by the Union of BC Municipalities (UBCM).

This funding is to support local preparedness for the implementation of Next Generation
911. Funding is being provided on an allocation-basis and 50% of the approved amount
will be issued when the signed copy of this agreement is returned to UBCM. The
balance of the grant will be available when UBCM has received and approved the
required final report and financial summary.

The Ministry of Citizens’ Services has provided funding for this program and the general
Terms & Conditions are attached. In addition, and in order to satisfy the terms of the
contribution agreement, the following requirements must be met in order to be eligible
for grant payment:

(1)  This approval agreement is required to be signed by the CAO or designate
and returned to UBCM within 30 days of the date of this letter;

(2)  The funding is to be used solely for the purpose of local preparedness for the
implementation of Next Generation 911,

(3)  All expenditures must meet eligibility and funding requirements as defined in
the Program & Application Guide (refer to Sections 3 and 4);

(4)  All project activities must be completed within three years and no later than
August 2, 2026;

(5)  The final report is required to be submitted to UBCM within 30 days of project
end date and no later than September 2, 2026;

(6)  Any unused funds must be returned to UBCM within 30 days following the
project end date;

The Next Generation 911 program is funded by the Province of BC

60-10551 Shellbridge Way, Richmond, BC V6X 2W9 525 Government Street, Victoria, BC V8V 0A8

t. 604.270.8226 | f.604.270.9116 | ubcm.ca t. 2560.356.5133 | f.250.356.5119 | ubcm.ca




Please note that descriptive information regarding eligible recipients will be posted on
the UBCM and/or provincial government websites, or shared through provincial
governments news releases or events, and all interim, progress and/or final report
materials may be made available to the provincial government.

If you have any questions, please contact the undersigned at 250-356-2947 or
jwoodrow@ubcm.ca.

Sincerely,
(}WQ/JML\

Jonas Woodrow, Program Officer

CccC. Jordan Wall, CAO

Reference: AP8180
Approval Agreement (to be signed by the CAO or designate)

l, , authorized designate of the Town of Comox, have read and
agree to the general Terms & Conditions and the requirements for funding under the
2023 Next Generation 911 program.

Signature Date

Please return an electronic copy of this signed Approval Agreement Attention of the Program
Administrator to lgps@ubcm.ca
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Town of Comox

U
ORT 2022

The Town of Comox respectfully acknowledges that we gather
and work on the unceded traditional territory of the K’'6moks
First Nation, the traditional keepers of this land.

Al A2 A3

TOWN OF

COMOX

A4



S e L na L

| NTRODUCTION

j10day |enhuuy

Council is pleased to present the 2022 Annual Report
highlighting the Town’s various corporate and financial
accomplishments over the past year. This report summarizes the
progress and achievements towards the 2022 Strategic Priorities
and shares the Town’s audited consolidated financial statements.

Town Council is elected at large by candidates now serve on Council for the
residents to service a four-year term and next four years, with their term ending in
governs in accordance with the powers 2026.

granted under the Municipal Government Photo: Top middle: Comox Mayor, Nicole
Act. Town Council consists of a mayor and Minions

six councillors and provides strategic To the mayor’s top right - Councillors
direction to administration through a Ken Grant and bottom Maureen Swift and
variety of plans, bylaws, policies, and Steve Blacklock

other government processes. A general To the mayor’s top left - Councilors Dr.
local government election was held Jonathan Kerr and bottom Jenn Meilleur
in October 2022 and the successful and Chris Haslett

Annual Report 2022
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Report

Annual

M AYOR’S MESSAGE

Welcome to the Town of Comox 2022
Annual Report. What | enjoy about this
publication is the reminder of what

our organization accomplished in the
year and the team effort in achieving
these goals. As your newly elected

Mayor and Council, we look forward to
advancing key initiatives. We are keen
on collaborating with our community to
continue to build an amazing, connected,
vibrant Comox. Our annual report will be
a great tool to see how we advance over
the next four years.

Here is a look back at some of the
highlights of 2022.

Actioning Strategic Priorities

The strategic priorities document is

a tool that the Town Council uses to
guide how we will utilize the Town’s
resources and funding. A few of the key
accomplishments from the last year
include:

Climate Action Open House - This open
house held at the end of June was

an opportunity for the community to
provide feedback on climate change
initiatives and its growing impact on
our environment and quality of Llife in
our community. The feedback from this
open house was critical in establishing

Aug 9, 2023 RCM Agenda

“WHAT AN EXCITING TIME FOR COMOX, AS WE
GROW AND MAINTAIN OUR FRIENDLY SMALL-
TOWN VIBE. WE ARE LOOKING FORWARD TO ALL
THE OPPORTUNITIES COMING OUR WAY OVER THIS
FOUR-YEAR TERM.”

the Town’s strategies related to reducing
emissions and managing the risks of
climate change.

New Tree Retention Policy - Trees
contribute to the Town’s visual character
and ecosystems. The Town recognized
that existing trees and new development
compete for space. Since both are
crucial to Comox’s vitality, the new
policy seeks to balance the needs of the
two.

Youth Recreation Report - the Town
conducted a robust consultation that
assessed and provided recommendations
for outdoor recreation and park
infrastructure for youth 12 - 18 years
old. Through this report, Comox Council
voted in favour of undertaking public
engagement to determine the location
and design of a skatepark and bicycle
pump track.

Marine Services Building - Through
Federal and Provincial grant funding,
the Town proceeded to partially
demolish and rebuild the Marine
Services Building. The final design
for the building will include three
retail spaces, two universal accessible
washrooms and a visitor information
kiosk.
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Regional Climate Action Initiatives - The
Town worked to move forward climate
action initiatives through the goals

set in the Regional Growth Strategy
(RGS). The objectives of the RGS are

to minimize regional greenhouse gas
emissions and plan for adaptation in the
region.

Regional Parks Service - The Town
worked to support re-activating a
regional parks service in the interest

of creating greenway links between
municipalities and acquiring large land
parcels of regional interest. Parks and
trails under a regional service will focus
on land for environmental protection or
nature-based outdoor recreation.

Support of Coalition to End Homelessness
and Habitat for Humanity - The Town
continues to support the Poverty
Assessment and Reduction Strategy that
defines actions that reduce poverty
across the region. In 2022, the Town
contributed $40,000 in funding to
Habitat for Humanity for local area
housing initiatives and supported six
affordable housing units on behalf

of M’akola Housing Society to the
Highstreet property at 695 Aspen.

In the past year, we’ve seen many
changes both inside the organization
and the community we serve. Before the
October General Municipal Elections, we
honoured Mayor Russ Arnott with the
highest award, the Freedom of the Town.

Report 2022
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It was a privilege and an honour for me
and all members of Council 2018 - 2022
to bestow this award to show him our
sincere appreciation for his dedication to
public service. We were saddened by the
passing of our beloved friend and mentor
in November; this was a significant loss
for our community and the field of public
service.

It would be amiss not to recognize all
the extraordinary community events and
public engagement opportunities that
made a positive difference in the lives

of those who live, work, and play in our
community. From the opening of the new
Aspen Grove Child Care Centre, to the
energy created by drawing the community
back to an in-person Comox Nautical Day
celebration, and working to support local
charity initiatives such as the Mayor’s
Golf Tournament and the Comox Valley
Telethon for the Child Development
Association that raised over $127,000, we
all have reason to celebrate.

With a new Council team with me

on this next four-year journey, I'm
looking forward to 2023 and the years
to come as we face new challenges

and opportunities. When | look around
our great Town, | see opportunity and
citizens who embody the spirit of
kindness, generosity, and ingenuity that
will propel us to improve community
living and positively manage change.

] i
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MESSAGE FROM THE
CAO

“THE MOST IMPORTANT ASSET ARE OUR PEOPLE,BOTH
INSIDE THE ORGANIZATION AND THE PEOPLE WE SERVE. I
AM PROUD TO LIVE AND WORK IN THIS COMMUNITY. IT IS
TRULY A PRIVILEGE TO LEAD ATEAM WHO ARE COMMITTED
TO MAKING THE TOWN EVEN BETTER.”

Report

Annual

On behalf of the Town’s administration,
| am pleased to introduce the 2022

Annual Report highlighting many of our
accomplishments and providing details

on the Town’s financial position. Looking

back on the year, it focused on change
and adaptation. Through this period,
administration remained committed to
providing residents with cost-effective
and sustainable services and programs
that were delivered in alignment with
Council’s priorities.

As the new Council establishes a new
strategic plan, this annual report
represents the final report card on the
milestones achieved over the previous
Council’s four-year term.

Some of the notable service

achievements for the Town of Comox in

2022 include:

¢ The launch of the Town of Comox
new website

e Opening of the new child care centre

in Comox

e Youth Recreation Report
recommendations

e The Comox Marine Services Building

grant through Federal, Provincial and

Island Coastal Economic Trust
e C(Climate change and the environment
open house

e Local Government Municipal Election

e Town’s infrastructure projects open
house

Aug 9, 2023 RCM Agenda

CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER, JORDAN WALL

One of the most significant events of
2022 was the loss of our beloved former
Mayor, Russ Arnott (2018 - 2022). He
was a tireless advocate for our Town
and contributed greatly to the success
of Comox and the region over the years.
His leadership, warmth, respect, and
compassion were felt by all who had
the opportunity to interact with him.
His presence is greatly missed in this
community.

The responsibility for the integrity
and objectivity of the accompanying
financial statements in this report
ending December 31, 2022, and all
the information contained in these
statements rest with the Chief
Administrative Officer of the Town of
Comox. These financial statements have
been prepared by Meyers Norris Penny
(MNP) and approved by Council and
Administration.

We enter 2023 with the hope of moving
our Town progressively forward. Local
government is the government closest
to the people, and we are committed to
keeping our residents and community
partners informed and top of mind as we
move Council’s strategic plan forward.

A
=
,//;-'/'"/
g
z

Jordan Wall
Chief Administrative Officer
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COUNCIL’S STRATEGIC PRIORITIES ARE ORGANIZED BY

THE FOLLOWING DEPARTMENTS

Chief
Administrative
Officer

Corporate || Pirectorof loeveloomend] Qivector of
Services Lzlfe Services

Director of
Operations § Recreation

The Town’s Strategic Plan guides the work of the Town of Comox
and sets its goals and priority actions. It tells the citizens what
Council plans to accomplish, in addition to its core services, and sets
performance measures and targets for assessing progress over the
Council term.

j10day |enhuuy
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C ORPORATE
ACCOMPLISHMENTS

e Changes to Comox Valley Economic Development Service
contract

e Celebrated Comox Fire Chief Lifetime Achievement Award
e Comox selected for Women in Local Leadership Project

e Adopted the Youth Recreation Report recommendations
e C(Climate change and the environment open house

e Provincial, Federal and Island Coastal Economic Trust
funding for the new Marina Services Building

e New automated curbside collection changes coming in
2024

e Council confers Freedom of the Town of Comox to Mayor
Russ Arnott

e Comox Fire Rescue ordered new aerial truck in January

e Public information on the Lazo Road project

e The Comox Marine Services Building grants through
Federal, Provincial and Island Coastal Economic Trust

e Subdivision and building permit approval for 156 beds for 7
intermediate care facility and 32 spaces at the former St.
Joseph’s Hospital site.

e C(Climate change and the environment open house

e Marine Services Building demolition and rebuild project
at Comox Marina Park

e Town explores potential site options for a skate park and
pump track

Report

Launched the new Town of Comox website

e Hosted a climate change and the environment open house

e Public Information on the Lazo Road Project

e Completed fire safety upgrades to the historic Filberg
Lodge

e C(Climate change and the environment open house

e Opening of a new child care centre in Comox and the
creation of 6 affordable housing units in cooperation with
BC Housing and M’akola Housing Society

e Regional earthquake exercise

e Installation of the new playground - Elks and Royal Purple
Park

e Local government municipal election

e Town’s infrastructure open house

e Completion of the Development Application Process
Review

e Comox Fire Rescue busiest year, responding to 924

incidents
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Town of Comox

Management's Responsibility
for Financial Reporting

The preparation of information in these Consolidated Financial Statements is the responsibility
of management. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Canadian public sector accounting standards and are outlined under “Significant
Accounting Policies” in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. Management is
responsible for the integrity and objectivity of these statements as well as the supplementary
statements and schedules.

Management maintains a system of internal accounting controls to provide reasonable
assurance that assets are safeguarded and that transactions are authorized, recorded and
reported properly. Management also maintains a program of proper business compliance.

MNP LLP, the Town’s independent auditors, have conducted an examination of the
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian auditing standards and have
expressed their opinion in a report accompanying this statement.

Clive Freundlich
Director of Finance

Annual Report 2022
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Independent Auditor's Report

Report

Annual

To the Mayor and Council of Town of Comox:

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Town of Comox (the "Town"), which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2022, and the consolidated statements of operations,
accumulated surplus, changes in net financial assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Town as at December 31, 2022, and the results of its consolidated operations,
changes in its net financial assets and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities

under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated

Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Town in accordance with the ethical 13
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled

our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information, consisting of the annual report, which is expected to be made
available to us after the date of this auditor's report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated.

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to
communicate the matter with those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

400 MNP Place, 345 Wallace Street, Nanaimo B.C., VOR 5B6 T:250.753.8251 F:250.754.3999

RiG

PRAXITY" MNP.ca
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Town'’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Town or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Town’s financial reporting process.
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Town’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Town'’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Town to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

14

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Nanaimo, British Columbia MA//: LLP

July 5, 2023 Chartered Professional Accountants

Annual Report 2022
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Town of Comox

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as at December 31, 2022

2022 2021
Financial Assets:
Cash 10,914,514 6,944,651
Short-term investments (Note 2c) 37,619,045 41,700,222
Receivables (Note 3) 1,479,547 1,934,291
Land for resale 9,847 9,847
50,022,953 50,589,011
Financial Liabilities:
Payables (Note 4) 3,976,779 3,370,741
Deferred revenue (Schedule 2) 1,605,064 1,523,179
Restricted revenue (Schedule 2) 8,049,856 9,816,952
Deposits 3,437,103 4,496,680
Net debenture debt (Note 5) 20,371 64,350
Future payroll obligations (Note 8) 1,131,611 1,173,695
15

18,220,784 20,445,597
v Net Financial Assets 31,802,169 30,143,414

b Non-financial assets:
f Tangible capital assets (Schedule 4) 89,754,706 86,858,945
s Supply inventory 280,716 239,163
c Prepaid expenses 86,070 36,033
= Shares in Courtenay Golf Club Ltd. 8,750 8,750
90,130,242 87,142,891

Accumulated surplus

$ 121,932,411

$ 117,286,305

Accumulated Surplus consists of:

Accumulated surplus (Note 16)
Accumulated remeasurement loss
Accumulated surplus

122,093,344 117,286,305
(160,933) -
$ 121,932,411 $ 117,286,305

Contingent liabilities (Note 6)
Commitment (Note 18)

Clive Freundlich, Director of Finance, responsible for financial administration.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Page 1
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Town of Comox

Consolidated Statement of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2022

Budget 2022 2021
(Note 15)
Revenue
Property taxation $ 13,165,150 $ 12,813,373 $ 12,294,935
Sale of services 9,986,585 11,262,306 11,040,045
Government transfers 6,223,842 3,650,755 1,824,776
Investment income 400,000 925,021 754,654
Development contributions 1,254,500 685,908 741,875
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets - 51,332 -
Other 105,000 126,063 113,104
31,135,077 29,514,758 26,769,389
Expenses
General government 3,372,274 3,506,695 2,603,389
Protective services 4,343,542 4,145,253 4,091,778
Solid waste management 1,554,530 1,591,869 1,404,944
Affordable Housing 17,490 17,634 -
16 Development services 829,710 763,926 700,043
Transportation 3,911,293 4,267,171 3,756,710
Parks, recreation, and culture 4,778,507 4,944 143 4,806,970
Marina 312,720 350,981 289,806
Water services 2,897,080 2,515,835 3,004,835
Sewer services 3,313,897 2,604,212 2,973,001
25,331,043 24,707,719 23,631,476
Annual surplus 5,804,034 4,807,039 3,137,913
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 117,286,305 117,286,305 114,148,392

Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 123,090,339 $ 122,093,344 $ 117,286,305

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Annual Report 2022
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Annual Report

Town of Comox

Consolidated Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses
Year Ended December 31, 2022

2022 2021
Accumulated remeasurement losses, beginning of the year $ - $ -
Unrealized loss attributable to portfolio investments (160,933) -
Accumulated remeasurement losses, end of year 3 (160,933) $ -

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Town of Comox
Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Budget

2022

2021

(Note 15)

Annual surplus

$ 5804034 $ 4,807,039 $ 3,137,913

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (15,098,085) (6,173,949) (2,077,686)
Tangible capital assets contributed - - (358,310)
Additions of Capital Assets (15,098,085) (6,173,949) (2,435,996)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 3,300,000 3,278,188 3,288,082
Disposition of tangible capital assets - - 1,541
(5,994,051) 1,911,278 3,991,540
Unrealized (loss) on investments - (160,933) -

(Increase) / decrease in supply inventory - (41,553) 3,620
(Increase) / decrease in prepaid expenses - (50,037) 86,723
- (252,523) 90,343

Increase (decrease) in Net Financial Assets (5,994,051) 1,658,755 4,081,883
Net Financial Assets at beginning of year 30,143,414 30,143,414 26,061,531

Net Financial Assets at end of year

$ 24,149,363 $ 31,802,169 $ 30,143,414

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Annual Report 2022
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Town of Comox
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
as at December 31, 2022

2022 2021
Net inflow (outflow) of cash related to the following activities:
Operating activities:
Annual surplus $ 4807039 $ 3,137,913
Non-cash items included in operations:
Contribution from developers - (358,310)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 3,278,188 3,288,082
Disposition of tangible capital assets - 1,541
Actuarial adjustment on debt (20,754) (18,884)
Unrealized loss on investments (160,933) -
Net changes to financial assets & liabilities through operations:
Decrease / (increase) in receivables 454,744 (577,601)
Increase / (decrease) in payables 606,038 (66,604)
Increase in deferred revenue 81,885 214,690
(Decrease) / increase in restricted revenue (1,767,096) 1,078,885
(Increase) / decrease in other deposits (1,059,577) 1,557,271 19
(Decrease) / increase in future employee obligations (42,084) 111,470
(Increase) / decrease in supply inventory (41,553) 3,620
- (Increase) / decrease in prepaid expenses (50,037) 86,723
o
o 6,085,860 8,458,796
o
- Investing Activities
S Short-term investing 4,081,177 (4,193,759)
Z Capital Activities
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (6,173,949) (2,077,686)
Financing activities:
Debenture principal repaid (23,225) (23,225)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 3,969,863 2,164,126
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 6,944,651 4,780,525
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 10,914,514 $ 6,944,651
Supplemental cash flow information
Interest paid $ 21,355 $ 19,121
Interest received $ 925,021 $ 754,654

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Page 5
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Town of Comox
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

1. PURPOSE

The Town of Comox was incorporated in 1946 to provide municipal services to its
residents, and is governed by the Community Charter and the Local Government Act of
British Columbia.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) British Columbia Municipalities
It is the policy of the Town to follow accounting principles generally accepted for British
Columbia municipalities and to apply such principles consistently. As part of this policy,
the resources and operation of the Town are segregated into various funds for
accounting and financial reporting purposes, each being treated as a separate entity
with responsibility for the stewardship of the assets allocated to it.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with

recommendations of the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB). The consolidated

financial statements include the financial position, financial operations, change in net

financial assets, and change in cash flows of the one economic entity of the Town of

Comox. Inter-fund transactions and fund balances have been eliminated on
50 consolidation.

(b) Investments and Financial Instruments
Investments are held by the Municipal Finance Authority (MFA) in their pooled
investment funds which include money market and bond funds. Regional District funds
invested with MFA are pooled with other local governments and managed
independently by Phillips, Hager & North Ltd. and CIBC Mellon Trust.

Investments are initially recognized at cost and subsequently carried at fair market
value. Interest and dividends attributable to investments are reported in the statement
of operations.

During 2022, the Town of Comox adopted Public Sector Accounting Board Standard
PS 3450 Financial Instruments and Public Sector Accounting Board Standard PS 2600
Foreign Currency Translation. The standards have been adopted prospectively and
accordingly there is no adjustment to the opening balances.

Financial instruments are classified into two categories fair value or cost.

(i) Fair value category: investments quoted in an active market are reflected at fair
value as at the reporting date. Sales and purchases of investments are recorded on
the trade date.

Transaction costs related to the acquisition of investments are recorded as an
expense. Unrealized gains and losses on financial assets are recognized in the
Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses until such time that the
financial asset is derecognized due to disposal or impairment. At the time of
derecognition, the related realized gains and losses are recognized in the
Statement of Operations and related balances reversed from the Statement of
Remeasurement Gains and Losses.

Annual Report 2022
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Town of Comox
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

(c)

Annual Report

(d)

(ii) Cost category: investments not quoted in an active market, financial assets and
liabilities are recorded at cost or amortized cost. Gains and losses are recognized in
the Statement of Operations when the financial asset is derecognized due to
disposal or impairment. Sales and purchases of investments are recorded on the
trade date.

Transaction costs related to the acquisition of financial assets are included in the
cost of the related instrument.

Financial assets are assessed for impairment on an annual basis. If there is an
indicator of impairment, the Town of Comox determines if there is a significant adverse
change in the expected amount or timing of future cash flows from the financial asset. If
there is a significant adverse change in the expected cash flows, the carrying value of
the financial asset is reduced to the highest of the present value of the expected cash
flows, the amount that could be realized from selling the financial asset or the amount
the Town of Comox expects to realize by exercising its right to any collateral. If events
and circumstances reverse in a future period, an impairment loss will be reversed to the
extent of the improvement, not exceeding the initial adjusted cost base.

Short-term Investments 21
Investments are comprised of various investment funds which have fluctuating returns

and are carried at the market value, which is equal to the carrying value, and
Guaranteed Investment Certificates.

Short-term Investments 2022 2021
Municipal Finance Authority of BC Funds:
Short-term Bond Fund * $ 4.871 $ 4.880
Intermediate Bond Fund 4,382,983 4544 178
Money Market Fund 14,224 13,954
* Adjusted for Trust Fund 4,402,078 4,563,012
Guaranteed Investment Certificates
Scotiabank (30-day Note Plan) 48,760 10,434,210
Coast Capital Savings 21,668,207 17,703,000
Raymond James 11,500,000 9,000,000
Subtotal 33,216,967 37,137,210

$ 37,619,045  $41,700,222

Trust Fund

A Town-administered trust fund has been excluded from the consolidated financial
statements. The balance in the fund was $271,945 at December 31, 2022 ($271,945 in
2021). It was invested in the MFA Short-term Bond Fund in 2022 and 2021.

Page 7
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Town of Comox
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e)

(f)

(¢)]

Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, net of disposals, write-downs and
amortization. Acquisitions exceeding the capitalization thresholds are capitalized. The
Town records certain infrastructure assets as one network without breaking down the
asset into component parts. Expenditures to replace components of such a network
are expensed as incurred. Amortization is calculated straight line over the estimated
life of the class of assets. Amortization is not taken until the asset is in use. Repairs
and maintenance are not capitalized, but are expensed in the period in which they
occur. Betterments which enhance the asset life or capacity are capitalized.

Estimated
Major Asset Category Threshold Life
Land $ 10,000 Indefinite
Land improvements $ 10,000 25 years
Buildings $ 10,000 50 years
Vehicles, Machinery and
Equipment $ 10,000 8to20years

Computers and programs $ 10,000 5 years
Engineered Structures

Road surfaces $ 10,000 25 years

Road sub-surfaces $ 10,000 50 years

Sidewalks $ 10,000 50 years

Storm drains surface $ 10,000 25 years

Storm drains sub-surface $ 10,000 75 years

Water $ 10,000 75 years

Sewer $ 10,000 75 years

Other surface structures $ 10,000 25 years

Future Payroll Obligations
* Earned but unpaid vacation is fully accrued and recorded in the financial
statements.
* An accrual is made for expected payments of employee sick leave, payout on
retirement, disability or death, and termination pay discounted from expected future
values to net present value at year-end.

Inventory

Inventory of supplies is recorded as a non-financial asset and is valued at the lower of
cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined by the first-in, first-out method. Net
realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated costs of completion and selling costs.

Annual Report 2022

Aug 9, 2023 RCM Agenda

Page 8

Page 108

j10day |enhuuy



Annual Report

Aug 9, 2023 RCM Agenda

Town of Comox
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

Funds

The financial operations of the Town of Comox are divided into seven funds: General
Operating Fund, General Capital Fund, Reserve Fund, Water Operating Fund, Water
Capital Fund, Sewer Operating Fund and Sewer Capital Fund. Functionally, the Water
and Sewer Funds are used for the services of distribution of potable water and
collection and treatment of sanitary sewage respectively. The General Operating Fund
is used for all other Town services. Capital Funds (General, Water and Sewer are used
to segregate tangible capital assets and related debt). All revenue and expenses for
services are recognized in the operating funds. The Reserve Fund is used to
segregate capital and other statutory reserves.

Revenue Recoghnition

Property tax revenues are recognized in the year they are levied. User fees and
garbage revenues are recognized when the service is provided. Interest and operating
grants are recognized as earned. Grants in lieu of taxes are recorded on an accrual
basis when it is possible to reasonably estimate the amounts receivable. User fees,
garbage collection and disposal are recognized as revenue on an accrual basis
according to rates set in various fees and charges bylaws. Permit fees are recognized
once the permit has been approved and the fee collected. Development cost charges
are deferred and recognized as revenue in the year an acquisition authorized by bylaw
is incurred. Contributed tangible capital assets are recorded at fair market value when
the contribution is received.

Government transfers are recognized in the consolidated financial statements as
revenues in the period in which events giving rise to the transfer occur, providing the
transfers are authorized, any eligibility criteria have been met, and reasonable
estimates of the amounts can be made, except when and to the extent the transfer
gives rise to an obligation that meets the definitition of a liability.

Liability for contaminated sites

A liability for remediation of a contaminated site is recognized at the best estimate of
the amount required to remediate the contaminated site when contamination exceeding
an environmental standard exists, the Town is either directly responsible or accepts
responsibility, it is expected that future economic benefits will be given up, and a
reasonable estimate of the amount is determinable. The best estimate of the liability
includes all costs directly attributable to remediation activities and is reduced by
expected net recoveries based on information available at December 31, 2022.

At each financial reporting date, the Town reviews the carrying amount of the liability.
Any revisions required to the amount previously recognized is accounted for in the
period revisions are made. The Town continues to recognize the liability until it is
settled or otherwise extinguished. Disbursements made to settle the liability are
deducted from the reported liability when they are made. As at December 31, 2022 the
Town has not recorded any liability for contaminated sites as no such sites have been
identified.
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Town of Comox
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Measurement Uncertainty

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with Canadian public
sector itbAccounting standards requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidate financial statements, as
well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Significant areas requiring management estimates are the estimated life of tangible
capital assets (used to establish amortization), determination of future payroll
obligation, collectability of accounts receivable and provisions for contingencies. Actual
results may vary from the estimates and adjustments will be reported and reflected in
operations as they become known. Liabilities for contaminated sites are estimated
based on the best information available regarding potentially contaminated sites that
the Town is responsible for.

() Accounting standards issued but not yet adopted

In August 2018, the Public Sector Accounting Board issued PS 3280 Asset Retirement
Obligations. The new standard establishes how to account for and report a liability for
54 asset retirement obligations (ARO). The main features of this standard are as follows:

j10day |enhuuy

* An ARO represents a legal obligation associated with the retirement of a tangible
capital asset.

» Asset retirement costs increase the carrying amount of the related tangible capital
asset and are expensed in a rational and systematic matter.

* When an asset is no longer in productive use, the associated asset retirement costs
are expensed.

* Measurement of the ARO liability should result in the best estimate of the amount
required to retire a tangible capital asset at the financial statement date.

» Subsequent measurement of the ARO liability results in either a change in the
carrying amount of the related tangible capital asset or an expense. The accounting
treatment depends on the nature of the remeasurement and whether the asset
remains in productive use.

* The best method to estimate the liability is often a present value technique.

This standard applies to fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2022 and the Town is
expected to apply it to its December 31, 2023 financial statements.
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Town of Comox
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

3. RECEIVABLES
Receivables are composed of the following amounts:

2022 2021
Governments $ 252,190 $ 179,619
Other 1,219,498 1,751,549
Total receivables $ 1,479,547 $ 1,934,291

4, PAYABLES

Payables are composed of the following amounts:

2022 2021
Wages payable $ 325,008 $ 293,926
Governments 2,175,912 2,216,828
Trade & Other 1,475,859 859,987
Total payables $ 3,976,779 $ 3,370,741
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Town of Comox
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

5. DEBENTURES ISSUED FOR THE TOWN

The Town’s debenture debt arises from participation in debenture issued by the
Municipal Finance Authority (MFA) of B.C. These are sinking-fund type
debentures with various terms and interest rates.

The outstanding debt reported is the original amount borrowed less the
actuarial value of the sinking fund, including interest. The outstanding
debentures at December 31, 2022 are:

Issued/  Purposes of Interest Amount Sinking Net Debt Promissory
Bylaw#  Borrowing Terms Rate Borrowed Fund Owing Reserve Note

Apr2004  Kye Bay Water
BIL#2426 & Sewersystem 19yrs  240% § 317250 § 296879 § 203711 § 5639 § 97H
Apr 2008  Pt. Holmes

B/L #1520 Water dyrs  465% 270,000 §

>
=
Total at December 31, 2022 $ 587250 § 296879 § 20371 § 5639 § 97H z
Total at December 31, 2021 S 587250 § 522900 § 64350 9 9481 § 20,689 2
Pl
T
26 Scheduled payments and net balances for the above issues over the next two years are: °
Schedule Annual Payments Sinking Fund Net Debt
Year Principal Interest Total Actuarial Earnings Outstanding
2023 8,465 6,204 14,669 11,907 -

At the time the debentures were issued, the MFA deposited 1% of the amount borrowed
to its Debt Reserve Fund. This is managed by the MFA and used to secure the
debenture issue as a whole (see Note 6 Contingent Liabilities). Once the MFA has
repaid the debenture issue, the Town is entitled to the proceeds of its share of the Debt
Reserve Fund, including accrued interest.
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Town of Comox
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

6. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a) Regional District Debt
Regional District debt is, under the provisions of the Local Government Act (Section 836),
a direct, joint and several liability of the District and each member municipality within the
District, including the Town of Comox. Readers are referred to the Comox Valley Regional
District 2022 Audited Financial Statements for specific information and detail.

(b) Municipal Finance Authority Debentures
The Town is also contingently liable to the Municipal Finance Authority (MFA) of B.C. for a
Debt Reserve Fund, to help secure its participation MFA Debentures (see Note 5). The
MFA has the right, if one or more participants in that issue default, to draw upon the
Town’s share of the Debt Reserve Fund ($5,639 at December 31, 2022; $9,481 in 2021),
plus Promissory Notes issued by the Town at the time of issue ($9,731 at December 31,
2022; $20,689 in 2021).

(c) Comox Fire Department

The Comox Fire Department protects both the Town of Comox and the Comox Rural Fire

Protection Improvement District, and so is jointly funded by the Town and the District. In

the event that this relationship ended, the Town would have to compensate the District for

its share of the equity of Fire Department assets. At December 31, 2022 the District's

share of those tangible capital assets (at cost and net book value) were $1,133,698 and 27
$442 542 respectively ($1,074,219 and $428,135 in 2021) and its share of a Fire
Department Capital Reserve was $485,422 ($354,735 in 2021).

(d) Claims
At December 31st there existed outstanding claims against the Town. These claims have
been referred to legal counsel and to the Town’s liability insurers. It is not possible to
determine the Town’s potential liability, if any, with respect to these matters.
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Town of Comox

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

7. PENSION INFORMATION

The Town of Comox and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (a jointly
trusteed pension plan). The board of trustees, representing plan members and employers,
is responsible for administering the plan, including investment of assets and administration
of benefits. The plan is a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan. Basic pension
benefits are based on a formula. As at December 31, 2021, the plan has about 227,000
active members and approximately 118,000 retired members. Active members include
approximately 42,000 contributors from local governments.

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of
the plan and adequacy of plan funding. The actuary determines an appropriate combined
employer and member contribution rate to fund the plan. The actuary’s calculated
contribution rate is based on the entry- age normal cost method, which produces the long-
term rate of member and employer contributions sufficient to provide benefits for average
future entrants to the plan. This rate may be adjusted for the amortization of any actuarial
funding surplus and will be adjusted for the amortization of any unfunded actuarial liability.

The most recent actuarial valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31,
2021, indicated a $2,866 million funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going
concern basis.

The Town of Comox paid $519,477 for employer contributions to the plan in fiscal 2022
($560,136 in 2021).

Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of
employer contributions made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan
accounting). This is because the plan records accrued liabilities and accrued assets for
the plan in aggregate, resulting in no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the
obligation, assets and cost to individual employers participating in the plan.

8. FUTURE PAYROLL OBLIGATIONS

The Town calculates the value of vacation, sick, severance, and meritorious service
accruals to be $1,131,611 at December 31, 2022 ($1,173,695 in 2021).

Vacation Accrual is calculated to be $599,096, at December 31, 2022 ($624,218 in 2021).
Sick, Severance, & Meritorious Service is calculated to be $532,516 at December 31,
2022 ($549,477 in 2021). In 2022, an unamortized net actuarial gain of $187,390
($161,165 in 2021) was recognized as a result of an overvaluation from prior years.

Meritorious Service is for Town employees who have worked at least 10 years for the
Town and then retire, become permanently disabled, or die receive 2 days pay for each
year of service. The reported liability reflects the likelihood that employees will become
eligible for this benefit. The calculations were projected into the future with an inflation
factor of 2.5% and discounted back at a discount rate of 4.50% (2% and 2.6% respectively
in 2021). Employee retirement benefit payments are being funded by an accounting
charge on wages paid in the year.
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Town of Comox
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

9. FINANCIAL RISKS AND CONCENTRATION OF RISK

The Town of Comox is potentially exposed to credit risk, market and interest rate risk, and
liquidity risk from the Town's financial instruments. Qualitative and quantitative analysis of
the significant risks from the Town's financial instruments is provided below by type of risk.

(a)

(b)

(€)

Credit Risk:

Credit risk primarily arises from the Town's cash, investments and accounts
receivable. The risk exposure is limited to their carrying amounts as at the date of the
statement of financial position.

Accounts receivable primarily consist of amounts receivable from other government
organizations and residents. To reduce the risk, the Town regularly reviews the
collectability of its accounts receivable and if needed, will establish an allowance
based on its best estimate of potentially uncollectible amounts. As at December 31,
2022, the amount of allowance for uncollectible amounts was nil (2021 - nil). The
Town historically has not had difficulty collecting receivables, nor have counterparties
defaulted on any payments.

Market and Interest Rate Risk:

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices and inputs, such as interest rates,
will affect the Town's income. The objective of market risk management is to control
market risk exposures within acceptable parameters while optimizing the return on
risk.

29

The Town manages market risk by holding cash balances with top rated Canadian
Schedule I financial institutions. The investments are managed following the
investment policy which is approved by the Town's council. The Town periodically
reviews its investments and is satisfied that the portfolio investments are being
managed in accordance with the investment policy.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in the market interest rates. The Town's
investments are disclosed in Note 2 and changes in the fair value of investments have
parallel changes in unrealized gains or losses until realized on disposal. The Town's
exposure to interest rate risk in relation to debt instruments is limited to long-term debt
and short-term financing. The risk applies only to long-term debt when amortization
periods exceed the initial locked-in term. Short-term financing is subject to daily
floating rates, which can result in variability over the course of short-term financing.
Interest rate risk related to debt instruments is managed through budget and cash
forecasts.

Interest rates have increased during the year, which primarily affects interest costs of
short-term debt, and interest earnings on investments.

Liquidity Risk:
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Town will not be able to meet its financial
obligations as they become due. The Town manages liquidity risk by continually

monitoring actual and forecasted cash flows from operations, anticipated investing,
and financial activities to ensure that its financial obligations are met.
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Town of Comox
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

10. ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS

The Town makes every reasonable effort to comply with all environmental regulations that
apply to its operations. These regulations may require future expenses to meet applicable
standards. Amounts required to meet these obligations will be charged to operations
when incurred or set aside as future reserves when they can be reasonably estimated.

11. FEDERAL PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF TAX

Although the Town is not economically dependent upon receipt of Federal Payments in
Lieu of Tax (PILT), it normally receives 15% of its revenue from taxation from this source
of revenue. Were the Government of Canada to halt its PILT, there would be a significant
impact on operations that could result in either a reduction in service levels and/or an
increase in property tax rates.

12. RESTRICTION ON DEFERRED REVENUE

The Town receives Development Cost Charges from developers. Section 935 of the Local
Government Act requires that these funds are deposited to reserves and limits the use of
those reserves (including the interest earned on them) to capital costs related to the
purpose for which the charge was collected. Section 941 of the Local Government Act
similarly limits the use of cash payments received in lieu of the 5% parklands provided at
subdivision of land, for acquisitions of parkland. See Schedule 3 for details of deferred
revenues.

30
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Town of Comox
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

13. SEGMENTED INFORMATION

The Town of Comox is a local government that provides a wide range of services to its
citizens. For management and reporting purposes the Town’s operations are organized
and reported by segments. Schedules 5 and 6 (for 2022 and 2021, respectively) of these
Financial Statements disclose the Town’s revenue and expenses split into the following
segments:

General Government - including the activities of Council plus general Town
administration, finance, and enforcement of Town bylaws.

Protective Services — including the activities of the RCMP on behalf of Comox, plus the
Comox Volunteer Fire Department, building inspection, emergency planning and animal
control.

Transportation — including roads, sidewalks, street lighting, traffic control and storm drains.

Solid Waste Management — including collection and disposal of garbage, recyclables and
yard waste. The Town does not operate any landfills or transfer facilities.

Development Services — including Town planning and our annual grants to the Downtown
Business Improvement Area Association.

Marina — is operation of the Town’s marina. 31

Parks, Recreation, and Culture — including operating the Town’s recreation centre and
public recreation programs, Town parks and greenways, cultural grants from the Town
and events sponsored for the Town, Christmas lighting, and Town buildings used for
recreation and cultural activities. The Town is a member of the Vancouver Island
Regional Library (VIRL), and owns library space that it rents to VIRL, which operates the
Comox library branch.

Water Service — is the distribution of water to Town residents. The Town buys treated bulk
water from the Comox Valley Regional District, so the Town neither produces nor treats
the water it distributes.

Annual Report

Sanitary Sewer Service — is the collection of sanitary sewage and transmission of the
same to the sanitary sewer treatment system operated by the Comox Valley Regional
District. The Regional District charges the Town for a share of the costs to operate its
system.

Certain allocations are employed in the preparation of segmented financial information.
General Property Taxation, Payments in Lieu thereof, and Investment income are not
allocated between segments, but are allocated to General Government. Government
grants and DCCs used for capital acquisitions are allocated to segments depending on the
purpose of the grant. Investment income is allocated to segments depending on the
nature of the capital reserves that it has been earned on. Some expenses are allocated to
segments based on an estimated use of resources.

The accounting policies used in these segments are consistent with those followed in
preparation of the consolidated financial statements as disclosed in Note 2.

There are no inter-segment sales of goods or services.
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Town of Comox
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

14. COMMUNITY WORKS (FEDERAL GAS TAX) FUNDS

The Town receives transfers of Community Works (federal gas tax) Funds through the
Union of BC Municipalities that can be used to fund eligible expenditures.

"Continuity of Funds: 2022 2021
Opening balance at start of year $ 5,339,909 $ 4,501,880
Transfers received during year 675,280 1,321,151
Interest on investments 103,371 6,878
Draws to fund eligible projects (789,158) (490,000)
Closing balance at end of year $ 5,329,402 $ 5,339,909

These transfers are recorded as conditional grant revenue because they can only be
used for eligible expenditures under the terms of a 2014 agreement between the
Government of Canada and the Union of BC Municipalities.

15. RECONCILIATION OF 2022 BUDGET

The Town’s budget figures come from a five-year Financial Plan adopted May 11, 2022
in accordance with Section 165 of the Community Charter of BC. That section requires
that municipalities must set out for each year of their Plan, the proposed expenditures
(including debt principal repayments, transfers to reserves, and tangible capital asset
acquisitions) and the proposed funding sources for them (including debt issues and
transfers from reserves and accumulated surplus). However, for financial reporting
purposes the Town follows public sector accounting standards and reports revenues
and expenses, so the following adjustments must be made to the budgeted figures to
reconcile them to the Towns 2022 Financial Plan:

"Reconciliation of 2022 Budget Reported to Financial Plan:

Net budget for 2022 reported $ 5,804,034
Capital acquisitions in Financial Plan (15,098,085)
Transfers from capital reserves in Financial Plan 11,030,876
Transfers to capital reserves in Financial Plan (5,013,575)
Debt principal repayments in Financial Plan (23,250)
Amortization expense 3,300,000
Net of Financial Plan $ -
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Town of Comox
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

16. ACCUMULATED SURPLUS

Operating Funds - comprise the principal operating activities of the Town and are
separated into General, Water, and Sanitary Sewer Funds.

Capital Funds - used to record the acquisition and disposal of tangible capital assets
and related financing and are similarly separated into General, Water and Sanitary
Sewer Funds. The General Capital Fund also contains shares in Courtenay Golf Club
Ltd. carried at a value of $8,750.

Reserve Funds - created to hold cash, and investments for specific future
requirements. They are comprised of the funds shown in Schedule 1.

Accumulated éurplus 2022 2021
Operating Funds:
General Operating Fund $ 3,273,341 $ 6,489,168
Water Operating Fund 1,766,775 1,468,107
Sanitary Sewer Operating Fund 3,558,287 3,158,944
8,598,404 11,116,219
Capital Funds: 33
General Capital Fund 73,393,402 70,103,917
Water Capital Fund 8,530,457 8,704,208
Sanitary Sewer Capital Fund 7,819,226 7,995,219
89,743,085 86,803,344
Reserve Funds (Schedule 1) 20,974,585 19,366,742

$ 119,316,074  $ 117,286,305
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Town of Comox
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

17. COVID SAFE RESTART FUNDS

COVID-19 Safe Restart funding is provided by the Province of British Columbia.
COVID-19 Safe Restart funding may be used towards designated categories that
address the impacts of COVID-19. Eligible costs will include:

* addressing revenue shortfalls;

* facility reopening and operating costs;

* emergency planning and protective services;

» computer and other electronic technology costs (to imporove interconnectivity
and virtual communications);

* services for vulnerable persons (eg., persons living with disabilities, mental illness
or addictions, persons experiencing homelessness or other vulnerabilities); and

* other related costs.

Revenues under the COVID-19 Safe Restart program have been recognized when

>
allocated to the Municipality. The Municipality continues to track the unspent amounts >
in the COVID-19 Safe Restart Reserve. The continuity of this fund is presented in the =
table below: -
34 COVID-19 Safe Restart Reserve 2022 2021 '1;
Opening balance of unspent funds $ 1,070,158 $ 2,067,000 =
Add: Interest on investments 20,716 3,158
Less: Revenue shortfall - recreation (280,351) (438,664)
COVID related expenses (810,523) (561,336)
Closing balance, unspent funds $ - $ 1,070,158

18. COMMITMENT

The Town of Comox has an agreement with Emterra Environmental for garbage,
recycling and yard waste collection that is valid until December 31, 2023.

Service is provided by Emterra weekly to the residents in the Town of Comox and costs
are expensed monthly. Contracted cost estimate for 2023 is $1,004,171.

19. COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Comparative figures have been reclassified to confirm to current year's presentation.
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Town of Comox

Schedule of Continuity of Reserve Funds Schedule 1
Year ended December 31, 2022 (unaudited)
2022 2021

Opening Balance of Reserve Funds $ 19,366,742 $ 17,091,329

Annual Report

Contributions to funds from operations 4,808,446 4,650,000
Interest earned on funds 374,906 26,110
Withdrawals from funds for capital acquisitions (3,575,509) (2,400,697)
Closing balance of Reserve Funds $ 20,974,585 $ 19,366,742
Represented by the following financial assets:
Cash and short-term investments $ 20,974,585 $ 19,366,742
35
Including the following Reserve Funds:
Federal Gas Tax (Community Works) Funds (Note 14) $ 5,329,402 $ 5,339,909
COVID-19 Safe Restart reserve (Note 17) - 1,070,158
Capital Works Reserve 3,848,110 3,268,197
Equipment Replacement Reserve 858,150 479,514
Municipal Marina Reserve 531,238 423,049
Water Utility Reserve 2,847,974 2,100,798
Sewer Enterprise Reserve 5,480,297 4,961,449
Lancaster Sewer Lift Station Capital Reserve 82,808 81,236
Point Holmes Sewer Lift Station Capital Reserve 54 611 53,574
Recreation Centre Capital Reserve 6,009 5,894
Waterfront Walkway Reserve 348 342
Affordable Housing Reserve 187,845 184,278
Public Safety Reserve 219,132 92,345
Fire Department Capital Reserve - Town Share 1,043,239 951,264
20,489,163 19,012,007
Fire Department Capital Reserve CFPID share (Note 6¢) 485,422 354,735
$ 20,974,585 $ 19,366,742
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Town of Comox

Continuity of Equity in Tangible Capital Assets Schedule 3
Year ended December 31, 2022
2022 2021
Opening balance of equity in Tangible Capital Assets 86,803,345 87,614,863
Changes in Capital Assets
Acquisitions of tangible capital assets 6,173,949 2,077,686
Tangible capital assets contributed - 358,310
Additions of Capital Assets 6,173,949 2,435,996
Wirite-offs of assets replaced (at NBV) - (1,541)
Amortization expense (3,278,188) (3,288,082)
Changes in related liabilities
Principal payment on debenture (to sinking fund) 23,225 23,225
Actuarial earnings on debenture sinking fund 20,754 18,884
Closing Balance of Equity in Tangible Capital Assets $ 89,743,085 $ 86,803,345 37
Represented by the following:
Tangible capital assets at net book value (Schedule 4)
Capital assets at cost $ 148,981,583 $ 142,939,030
Less accumulated amortization (59,226,877) (56,080,085)
Tangible capital assets at net book value 89,754,706 86,858,945
Net debenture debt (Note 5) (20,371) (64,350)
Shares in Courtenay Golf Club Ltd. 8,750 8,750
$ 89,743,085 $ 86,803,345
Page 23
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STAFF REPORT
Aug 9, 2023

To: Mayor and Council

File: PR 23-19

From: Marvin Kamenz, Director of Development Services

Date: August 9, 2023

Subject: Planning Report PR 23-19

CMHC Housing Accelerator Fund Application

Supervisor:
ﬂ p
4 ~

Marvin Kamenz, Director Devel.

Serv.

Financial Approved:

e}
v
L/_, v f M«d&f‘af-\
{7

Clive Freundlich, Fin. Director

Report Approved:

Jordan Wall, CAO

RECOMMENDATION(S) FROM THE CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER:

1. THAT Council direct staff to submit a Housing Accelerator Fund Action Plan that includes the
initiatives as generally outlined in the staff report dated August 9, 2023, along with all additional
required documentation to the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation as the Town's

application under the Housing Accelerator Fund program; and

2. THAT Council authorize the Chief Administrative Officer to enter into any contribution agreements
or amending agreements that may be required should the Town be approved for funding under

the program.

PURPOSE/PROPOSAL

The purpose of this report is to seek Council’'s endorsement of the Town's application to the Canada
Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC) Housing Accelerator Fund (HAF), and to provide an
opportunity for Council input on the required Action Plan ahead of the August 18th application

deadline.

The proposed HAF Action Plan aligns with several of Council’s strategic priorities and contributes to the
Town's commitment to increase affordable housing and housing choice. If successful, the contribution
the Town receives from the HAF will be used to support initiatives to achieve the Town’s goal of
providing improved housing diversity and affordability. In addition to the completion of the seven

STAFF REPORT TO — MAYOR AND COUNCIL
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proposed actions, HAF's incentive-based funding can be used to upgrade infrastructure to facilitate
housing, support affordable housing, acquire land and/or construct amenities to support growth.

The proposed HAF actions are aligned with the Town's current OCP policy which aims to diversify the
housing stock across the housing spectrum, provincial initiatives aimed at increasing housing supply,
and recent efforts to streamline the development approval process. HAF funding is intended to incent
municipalities to streamline processes and increase the housing supply at a rate and volume over and
above the status quo over the course of the funding term to alleviate the housing crisis currently being
experienced across Canada. If the application is successful, the Town would be eligible to receive several
millions of dollars to be used to both implement the Action Plan and invest in a number of future
investments aimed at supporting the costs of growth and increasing housing supply.

STRATEGIC PLAN LINKAGE

This report has linkages to several tasks identified in the 2022 Strategic Priorities Chart for the CAO and
Planning Services including but not limited to:

e Decrease Processing Timelines

e Future Development Forecasting

e Anderton Corridor Land Use Plan

e Balancing Affordable Housing Needs and Short-Term Rental Demand
e Downtown Master Plan

e Subdivision Bylaw Update

BACKGROUND

At the federal level, the HAF provides incentive funding to local governments to increase housing
supply across Canada. The HAF program is a $4 Billion fund intended to support the development of
complete, low-carbon and climate-resilient communities that are affordable, inclusive, equitable and
diverse. The HAF aims to see the creation of 100,000 new housing units across the country over a 4-year
period.

HAF is unique from other National Housing Strategy initiatives given that it incentivizes municipalities
to apply transformational changes and offers municipalities the flexibility on how to use funding to

support housing growth.

Evaluation Criteria

Applications to the HAF will be assessed on set evaluation criteria. Local governments must
demonstrate how they will:

1. Create housing supply at an accelerated pace,

2. Foster complete communities,

3. Support affordable and diverse communities,

4. Provide housing across the entire housing continuum, and

5. Support the development of low-carbon and climate-resilient communities

Page 2 of 6
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Application Deadline and Funding Timeline

The HAF application intake is now open and closes on August 18th. There is one application intake for
the HAF, and 25% of funding payments will be made upon funding approval and annually for three
years, subject to program conditions being met.

HAF Action Plan

Applications to the HAF must include an Action Plan with housing supply growth targets and initiatives
to grow housing supply and speed up housing approvals. Housing Action Plans must align with
program objectives and supported priorities and should reflect best practices in urban planning. Action
Plans will also be included in the contribution agreement and municipalities are required to commit to
and report on the activities during the four-year program.

Local governments with a population equal to or greater than 10,000 are required to identify seven
initiatives to form the HAF Action Plan. The HAF application guide includes a menu of initiatives that are
aligned with the objectives of the HAF program. While the type of initiatives supported by the HAF
program vary, initiatives should generally be long-lasting, anticipated to continue to incent housing
units long-term, impact a large portion of developable land, improve development predictability and
stability, or otherwise present the potential of increasing housing supply across the housing spectrum.
Scoring associated with the application evaluation is heavily weighted towards actions that will result in
additional housing supply early in the funding program.

A balance between supply-focused initiatives and other transformational initiatives to support more
long-lasting improvements to the broader housing system should also be considered when developing
the Action Plan. While local governments are encouraged to select initiatives from CMHC's list of
recommended actions, there is flexibility to consider innovative initiatives that contribute to more
housing supply. Current projects underway since the HAF was announced may be included in the Action
Plan. Based on the above, the following actions are proposed to form the Town's application to the
HAF:

1. Development Approvals Process Streamlining, Process Clarity, and e-Permitting: The goal
of this initiative is to make improvements to the development process to streamline application
intake, reduce processing timelines, and determine existing infrastructure servicing capacities
and necessary upgrades to accommodate growth.

2. Accessory Dwelling Unit Bylaw Amendments and Incentives Strategy: The goal of this
initiative is to encourage Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) within the Town's low-density
residential zones. The initiative involves implementing a series of policy updates to permit the
creation of additional ADU's in the Town through amendments to various Town bylaws
including the consideration of pre-zoning areas to allow both a secondary suite and detached
ADU on a low-density residential lot. The initiative recommends using HAF funding to provide
incentives for both the creation and the legalization of unauthorized existing ADUs.

Page 3 of 6
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3. Downtown Master Plan Zoning Amendments and Infrastructure Assessment: The goal of
this initiative is to develop a Downtown Master Plan that would establish future land use
regulations and identify necessary infrastructure upgrades to support the vitalization of
downtown including transitional land uses at the edges of downtown.

4. Parking Regulations Review and Revisions: The goal of this initiative is to introduce parking
reductions for developments in Downtown Comox and along transit corridors to incent the
development of affordable housing that aligns with the Town’s housing and transportation
goals. Reducing parking requirements will also streamline development approvals, as
amendments to the Zoning Bylaw to vary parking requirements are often requested or identified
as impacting market viability.

5. Missing Middle Zoning Actions Implementation: The goal of this initiative is to transition
from low density neighbourhoods zoned exclusively for single-detached housing by also
permitting missing-middle housing forms such as duplex, triplex and fourplexes in select areas
with high probability of redevelopment. The Town will establish criteria and pre-zone targeted
residential areas for plex-type development to allow up to four (4) dwelling units on a traditional
single-family lot in anticipation of provincial legislation.

6. Bylaw and Policy Updates (Develop Community Amenity Policy, Update Subdivision
Servicing Bylaw, Update Development Procedures Bylaw, Update Development Cost
Charge Bylaw): The goal of this initiative is to undertake a series of updates and amendments
to the Town's Bylaws including the Development Procedures Bylaw and the Subdivision
Servicing Bylaw. Amendments are intended to update out-of-date standards, create more clarity,
and to provide a streamlined, consistent and fair approval process. The initiative also intends to
update the Town'’s Development Cost Charge Bylaw to ensure that growth is paying for the
associated infrastructure costs and establish a Community Amenity Contribution Policy to
ensure that new growth is paying toward community amenities that are not currently covered
under DCCs.

7. Anderton Corridor/Guthrie Road Transit Oriented Development Housing: The goal of this
initiative is to undertake a comprehensive review of land uses surrounding Anderton Road and
Guthrie Road to identify opportunities to upzone and construct transit-oriented development.
HAF funding would provide the Town with the resources to undertake the zoning analysis which
would increase the economic viability of creating high density building forms and much needed
purpose build rentals in the community.

HAF Funding

There are three components of the HAF funding framework: (1) base funding, (2) top-up funding and
(3) an affordable housing bonus. Base funding is designed to incent all types of supply across the
housing spectrum. Top up funding is designed to incent certain types of housing supply. An affordable

Page 4 of 6
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housing bonus is designed to incentivize communities that can increase their share of affordable
housing units relative to the total projected permitted units with the support afforded by the HAF.

The amount of HAF funding a successful applicant will receive is based on a formula which prescribes a
dollar value for each net-new building permit set out in the housing supply growth target. All units
created from HAF initiatives will receive base funding of $20,000 per unit. To incent certain types of
units, all housing types except a single detached dwelling with no secondary suite or ADU will receive
additional top up funding. In addition to the base funding and top-up funding, units that are
considered affordable will receive an additional bonus. The following provides an overview of the HAF
funding formula — Baseline + Top Up + Affordable.

For example, a single detached dwelling with a suite that came online as a result of a HAF initiative
would equate to $64,000 while a single detached dwelling would equal only $20,000. The funding
formula seeks to incentivize affordable multi-unit developments, providing less of an incentive for
single detached homes. The amount of funding is determined by the growth targets put forward in the
Action Plan. Building permits that would be typically issued over the course of the program without HAF
funding would not be eligible for HAF incentive funding, HAF funds the portion of units over and above
the typical supply of housing.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

There are three components of the HAF funding framework: (1) base funding, (2) top-up funding and
(3) an affordable housing bonus. Base funding is designed to incent all types of supply across the
housing spectrum. Top up funding is designed to incent certain types of housing supply. An affordable
housing bonus is designed to incentivize communities that can increase their share of affordable
housing units relative to the total projected permitted units with the support afforded by the HAF.

The HAF program allows municipalities to use funding to pay for the implementation of the action plan
and support investments in infrastructure and increase in affordable housing units provided that these
initiatives all lead to facilitating residential growth.

The amount of the funding application is in development as it relates directly to the number and
housing type of the projected additional units that would come on stream as a result of the proposed
actions over the course of the 3-year funding program between the winter of 2023 and 2026. The
Town’s HAF application is anticipated to be in the $10 =12 million range.

OPERATIONAL IMPLICATIONS

Despite the Town's efforts to increase the efficiency and effectiveness of its development approvals
processes, it is anticipated that the internal capacity will be limited to complete all the identified actions

Page 5 of 6
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in-house. The Development Services Department has several initiatives planned for 2023-2026.
Currently, there are limited resources to complete the initiatives in the HAF Action Plan. If the Town's
application is successful, it is recommended that the HAF funding be used to consider the addition of a
contract term position to manage the implementation of the HAF actions or to assist with current staff
responsibilities to free up staff time to manage the project. The services of consultants will also be
required to assist in completing the identified initiatives. Both term positions and consultant services are
fully fundable by the program and would enable the Town to complete tasks earlier in the program
resulting in a higher probability of application success.

MK

Page 6 of 6
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STAFF REPORT
09/08/2023

To: Mayor and Council

File: DVP 23-7

From: Marvin Kamenz, Director of Development Services

Robin Pallett, Planner I

Date: August 9, 2023

Subject: Development Variance Permit Application: DVP 23-7

Variance to permit heat pumps in the front yard of 2250 Manor Place

Prepared by:

=

Robin Pallett, Planner Il

Supervisor:

pd

77 7
Marvin Kamenz, Director of

Development Services

Report Approved:

Jordan Wall, CAO

RECOMMENDATION FROM THE CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER:

That Development Variance Permit DVP 23-7 for 2250 Manor Place be issued subject to the Development

Variance Permit Conditions listed in Schedule 1 of the August 9, 2023 Planning Report on DVP 23-7.

PROPOSAL

The proposal is to vary Comox Zoning Bylaw 1850 (the Zoning Bylaw) to permit heat pumps in the front yard of

the subject property.

The applicant’s submission is contained in Attachment 1.

STAFF REPORT TO — MAYOR AND COUNCIL
DVP 23-7 2250 MANOR PLACE

Aug 9, 2023 RCM Agenda

Page 1 of 4

Page 133



REPORT SUMMARY

Subject Property:
2250 Manor Place
Property Size: 19.8 ha
Owner: Strata VIS1245

Applicant: Brian Perry (President of
Strata VIS1245)

Property Contains: Three multi-family buildings,
containing a total of 39 apartment dwelling units.

Legal Address: SECTION 3, COMOX DISTRICT,
STRATA PLAN 1245

Surrounding Land Uses: Multi-family residential
uses to the east and west; single-family residential
uses to the south and across Comox Avenue to

the north.

Legal . .

front The front of the subject property is along Manor Place.

Noise Heat pumps are known to emit noise and the Zoning Bylaw regulates noise-generating equipment
Impact to mitigate impact to surrounding uses, including the public realm of the street.

Public . . . . .

Health High summer temperatures affect vulnerable residents, including children and elderly.

Council Decision
To grant or deny a development variance permit to allow installation of the proposed heat pumps in
accordance with Schedule 1.

Decision options Implications

Recommended

Will permit installation of the proposed heat

1. Council grants the Development .
pumps in the front yard, as proposed by the

Variance Permit subject to Schedule 1

.\ applicant.
conditions PP
2. Alternative 1 - Council grants the If additional concerns are raised, they may be
Development Variance Permit with addressed with additional conditions on the
additional conditions permit.

Applicant would be required to install the
proposed heat pumps in accordance with the
Zoning Bylaw (outside of the front yard), if
possible.

3. Alternative 2 - Council denies the DVP

Page 2 of 4
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STRATEGIC PLAN LINKAGE

This report addresses the following tasks identified in the 2022 Strategic Priorities Chart for Planning Services:

Minor Development Applications.

BACKGROUND

Notification of Council's intent to consider DVP 23-7 at the August 9, 2023 Regular Council Meeting was mailed to
abutting properties owners and tenants. Correspondence received in advance of the August 9, 2023 RCM will be

distributed to Council prior to commencement of the RCM.

Applicant notification

As part of the application, the applicant has conducted their own notification of neighbours™. Results from this

notification are summarized below and included in Attachment 1.

Address Response
168 Manor Place  (across Manor Place to the south) Supportive
169 Manor Place  (across Manor Place to the south) Supportive
177 Manor Place  (abutting subject property to the west) Opposed?

OCP IMPLICATIONS

Official Community Plan Land Use Designation: Residential: Low Rise Apartments, Townhouses & Ground

Oriented Infill

Variance request: Proposed variance is consistent with the Official Community Plan.

Development Permit Areas Development Exempt from DPA?
DPA #3 General Multi-Family Exempt under section 3.3.4(D)

DPA #17 Coach House Exempt under section 3.17.4(B)
DPA #18 Secondary Suites Exempt under section 3.18.4(A)

ZONING IMPLICATIONS
Zoning: RM3.2 Apartment/Townhouse — High Density

The subject property is a double-fronting multi-family residential lot, with street frontage along both Comox

Avenue to the north and Manor Place to the south. Being the shortest lot line abutting a street, the Manor Place

" Neighbours are defined as any property which shares a lot line with or is across the street from the subject property
%2 The owner of 177 Manor Place has submitted an email to state their opposition to the proposed variance (Attachment 2).
Page 3 of 4
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frontage is the legal front as per the Zoning Bylaw. Building A is the southernmost building on the subject

property, and its balconies are all southern-facing (ground level patios face both south and north). The applicant
proposes to install a heat pump onto the balcony or patio of any dwelling unit whose owner has requested one
(through the strata’s heat pump program). Because the south-facing balconies and patios in Building A are within
the front yard of the subject property, a variance is required before the heat pumps can be installed in those

locations.

Section 5.4 of the Zoning Bylaw regulates noise-generating equipment. These regulations were included in
response to complaints from the public regarding the noise impact from heat pumps and other such devices. The
regulations seek to reduce the noise impact on the public realm (which is typically, but not limited to, the fronting
street) by restricting their placement in front yards, but also include required setbacks and acoustic screening. The
zoning regulations are intended to keep noise impacts from the equipment largely within the property owner’s

on-site private space so that noise impacts to neighbours and the public is mostly self-regulated.

Building A is located approximately 10.0 m from Manor Place and approximately 14.0 m from the nearest abutting
single family lot (177 Manor Place). The building is screened from the road and abutting residential lots with

fulsome landscaping and some mature trees (as shown on Attachment 1).

The applicant’s professional installer has provided written confirmation (Attachment 3) of the outdoor decibel
level® of the proposed heat pump model and what that means for noise impacts as experienced from the street or

neighbouring lots.

MK/RP

Schedules:

1. Development Variance Permit Conditions
Attachments:

1. Applicant’s Submission

2. Opposition to the Proposed Variance

3. Installer's Statement

3 An outdoor decibel level of 48 was accepted in 2020 for heat pumps via DPX 20-17.

Page 4 of 4
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DVP 23-7 2250 MANOR PLACE
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SCHEDULE 1
DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT CONDITIONS

(1) This development variance permit is to permit installation of one or more heat pumps (a
maximum of one per dwelling unit in Building A) in the front yard of the subject property in
compliance with Attachment 1;

(2) This Development Variance Permit is to vary the Comox Zoning Bylaw 1850,

i. Section 5.4(2) Noise Generating Mechanical Equipment
From:
Noise generating mechanical equipment affixed to land, to a building or
structure, or for the better use of the land or buildings and structures on the land,

shall... not be located in a front or exterior side yard;

To:
Noise generating mechanical equipment affixed to land, to a building or
structure, or for the better use of the land or buildings and structures on the land,

shall... not be located in an exterior side yard;

STAFF REPORT TO — MAYOR AND COUNCIL
DVP 23-7 2250 MANOR PLACE
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ATTACHMENT 1

APPLICANT’S SUBMISSION

STAFF REPORT TO — MAYOR AND COUNCIL
DVP 23-7 2250 MANOR PLACE
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Building locations on the site (subject area circled in red)
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South-facing patios on the ground floor of Building A (outlined in red)
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South-facing balconies on the 1st floor of Building A (outlined in red)
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South-facing balconies on the 2nd floor of Building A (outlined in red)
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APPLICATION RATIONALE

Present Use: Standard condominium development; three buildings, each with 13 units; the units are
either on ground floor, second floor or third floor; second and third floor units each have a balcony.
Balconies are used for seating, plants, etc.

Proposed use: As present but with the installation of indoor/outdoor heat pumps on the balconies of
one or more units.

Proposed variance: One of the buildings (Building A) is deemed by the Town Planning office to front on
Manor Place and thus according to bylaw cannot have heat pumps. We are applying to have a variance
to the bylaw so that units in Building A can have heat pumps installed.

Section number of the bylaw that is proposed to be varied: Bylaw 1850, Section 5.4 (2)

How much of the regulation proposed to be varied: to allow the “Noise Generating Mechanical
Equipment” (Heat Pumps) to be installed on Building A balconies, thus varying the Section which
prohibits them from being in a front yard.

Why the variance is needed:

We would like to install heat pumps on the balconies or patios of any unit in any of the three buildings in
the strata lot, which requires all the buildings to be deemed to be in compliance with the Bylaw.
However, one of the buildings (A) is currently considered by the Town Planning Office as not in
compliance as its balcony side is deemed by the Town to front on Manor Place.

We suggest that since balconies on A do front the street, access to the building units is from the other
side — which faces inward to the rest of the lot — and thus would be more reasonably be considered the
front. Considerations follow:

1. The part of the property adjacent to Manor Place is largely well covered by mature trees (pictures)
and thus it is unlikely that passers-by would even see, and probably not hear, a heat pump installed
on A’s balcony

2. If the current ruling stands, we would not allow heat pumps on any building in the interests of
equity - we do not want to create two classes of units where there is just one class now. Thus, no
resident would be afforded the comfort that a heat pump offers.

3. Many of our residents are elderly and have suffered through the last two summer’s massive heat
waves and through some high temperatures this year as well. Some are considering moving due to
the discomfort. The increasing heat we are experiencing represents a significant health hazard to
these people as well as to all residents.

Impact (if any) expressed by adjacent property owners:
Colin Koszmans said he was opposed but did not give a rationale.

Benefits to the community: One group of citizens will have more comfortable summers, and in extreme
heat situations elderly citizens may not become sick or die.
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SCREENING OF HEAT PUMPS

Many balconies are screened by trees:

All are also screened by their balcony structures:
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PHOTOS OF EXISTING BALCONIES AND BUILDING ELEVATIONS - ITEM 14
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PICTURES OF SAMPLE BALCONY BEFORE AND AFTER HEAT PUMP INSTALLATION - ITEM 17

As we have no actual heat pumps available to us, we built a cardboard replica with the same dimensions
as the heat pump specified in Item 9, and show the balcony with no heat pump and then the balcony as
it would look with a heat pump in it
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Balcony cross sections
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Privacy screens for heat pumps: There is no need for these since the heat pumps will be hidden behind
balcony walls on second and third floors. As noted above, screening will be put in place for any ground
floor units.

Exterior building screening materials: see Attachment A, Also, Council will require ground floor units to
camouflage the outside hardware with wood or comparable covering of a permanent nature (see
picture below for an example)
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ATTACHMENT 2

OPPOSITION TO THE PROPOSED VARIANCE

STAFF REPORT TO — MAYOR AND COUNCIL
DVP 23-7 2250 MANOR PLACE
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Town of Comox — Administration

From: COLIN KOSZMAN

Sent: November 13, 2022 6:44 PM

To: Town of Comox — Administration <town@comox.ca>
Subject: Fwd: Heat pumps- Attention Planning/Corey Cooper

Hello Corey,

| wanted to pass on my response given the request for a heat pump trail at the apartment complex/condo directly
beside me (at 2250 Comox Ave). We do not support a trial at 2250 with heat pumps given the existing bylaws. Heat
pumps would disturb our neighborhood.

Please see the below and let me know if you have any questions. | would appreciate receipt of this email.

Thank you,

Colin Koszman
177 Manor Place
Comox BC

VOM 1C6

From: "COLIN KOSZMAN"

To: "BRIAN PERRY"

Sent: Sunday, November 13, 2022 6:35:55 PM
Subject: Re: Heat pumps

Hi Brian,

Thanks for knocking on my door several weeks ago and sharing the information below. We have concerns with noise so
we do not support a variation from the existing town bylaw. We feel that heat pumps do not comply with existing bylaws.

Thanks again for the information.
Colin Koszman
177 Manor Place.

Comox BC
VOM 1C6
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ATTACHMENT 3

INSTALLER’S STATEMENT

STAFF REPORT TO — MAYOR AND COUNCIL
DVP 23-7 2250 MANOR PLACE
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From: Joe Cheriex

To: Robin Pallett

Subject: Samsung 12000 btu submittal
Date: July 19, 2023 7:30:15 AM
Attachments: Samsung 12000 btu 3.0e.pdf

*Warning* This E-Mail originated from outside The Town of Comox. *Please open with
Caution*

Attached is the submittals for the Samsung 12000 btu heat pump. The outdoor decibel rating is
46db. These units run extremely quiet and I suspect you would not be able to hear it from the
street. If need | can get some contacts from a strata apartment building that | have been
installing these units in Courtenay for reference.

Joe Cheriex

Owner /Service Manager
Controlled Air Heating and Cooling
Cell 250-792-2682

controlledairheatingandcooling.com
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SAMSUNG

Job Name

SUBMITTAL AR12CSDABWKNCYV / AR12CSDABWKXCV
Samsung WindFree™* 3.0, no A3 Ii

Location

Purchaser

Page 1 of 4

Engineer

Submitted to

Reference [_|

Unit Designation

Model

Performance

Power

Dimensions

Sound Pressure Level

Operating Temperatures

Pipe Connections

Refrigerant

Compressor

Evaporator Fan

Condenser Fan

Safety

Approval [ ] Construction [ ]

Schedule #

Specifications

Indoor Unit Model Number (US Code)
Outdoor Unit Model Number (US Code)
Cooling / Heating (Btu/h)

Nominal Capacity

AR12CSDABWKNCYV (RNS12ABC)
AR12CSDABWKXCV (RXS12ABC)
12,000/ 12,000

. Cooling (Btu/h) 3,000 - 15,000
Capacity Range
Heating (Btu/h) 2,600 - 21,500
SEER2/EER2 23/13.5
HSPF2 10.5
Voltage o/V/Hz 1/208-230 /60
Working Voltage Range (VAC) 187 - 253
Operating Current ~ Cooling (A) 1.0/42/6.3
(min. /std./max.)  Heating (A) 1.1/3.8/9.0
Max. Breaker Amps 20
Min. Circuit Ampacity (A) 12.5
WXHXD (in) Indoor Unit 35 x 11-3/4 x 8-7/16
Outdoor Unit 31-1/8 x 21-9/16 x 11-1/4
Weight (Ibs.) Indoor Unit 234
Outdoor Unit 71.4
Indoor Unit dB(A) H / Silent 39/22
Outdoor Unit dB(A)  High 46
Outdoor Cooling 14 ~ 115°F (-10 ~ 46°C)
Heating -5~ 75°F (-20.5 ~ 24°C)
Cooling 61 ~90°F (16 ~ 32°C)
Indoor
Heating 50 ~ 86°F (27 ~ 30°C)
Indoor & Outdoor High side (flare) ar
Low side (flare) 3/8"
Maximum (ft.) 66
Maximum Vertical Separation (ft.) 49
Condensate Connection 11/16" OD
Type R410A
Control Method Electronic Expansion Valve
Factory Charge Ibs. 2.54
Charge for 25 ft.
Additional Refrigerant Charge 0.16 oz. / ft. over 25 ft.
Manufacturer Samsung
Type BLDC Rotary
RLA Amps 9.2
Type BLDC motor with cross-flow fan
Air Volume Cooling (CFM) 250/321/374 /427
(L/M/H/Turbo) Heating (CFM) 286 /357 /410 /463
Output Watts 27
FLA Watts 0.12
Motor BLDC With Axial Type Fan (1)
Output Watts 40
FLA Amps 0.18
Air Volume CFM (max.) 1589
Certifications UL 60335-2-40
PCB fuses, indoor unit terminal block thermal fuse, current
Devices transformer, over-voltage protection, crankcase heating,

temperature limit protection logic, compressor overload sensing

'Certified in accordance with the AHRI Unitary Small Air-Source Heat Pumps (USHP) Certification Program which is
based on the latest edition of AHRI Standard 210/240.

Proper sizing and installation of equipment is critical to achieve optimal performance. Split system air conditioners
and heat pumps (excluding ductless systems) must be matched with appropriate coil components to meet ENERGY
STAR criteria. Ask your contractor or visit www.energystar.gov.

*The WindFree™ unit delivers an air current that is under 0.15 m/s while in WindFree™ mode. Air velocity that is
below 0.15 m/s is considered “still air” as defined by ASHRAE (American Society of Heating, Refrigeranting, and Air

Conditioning Engineers).

Samsung HVAC maintains a policy of ongoing development. Specifications are subject to change without notice.
Refer to www.AHRIdirectory.org for current reference numbers.
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General Information

The indoor unit shall feature WindFree™* mode. In cooling mode, as room temperature nears
set temperature, the unit will close its louver and will disperse air into the space through
thousands of micro-holes on the front of the indoor unit preventing cold air drafts on occupants.
The indoor unit shall have Wi-Fi capability as standard.

Outdoor unit shall provide 208/230V power to indoor unit via 14 AWG X 3 interconnect power
cable.

Built-in motion sensor for airflow direction control and energy saving operation.

Construction

Indoor unit chassis shall be UL94 VO with a galvanized steel mounting bracket

The indoor unit shall have easy-access to wire, pipe, and drain connections via access panel
on the bottom of the unit for simple installation and service

The outdoor unit shall be galvanized steel with a baked on powder coated finish for durability

Heat Exchanger

The heat exchangers shall be mechanically bonded fin to copper tube

Refrigerant System

The compressor shall be hermetically sealed, inverter controlled, BLDC Rotary
Refrigerant flow shall be controlled by an electronic expansion valve at the outdoor unit

Indoor Fan

The indoor fan shall be a single, antibacterial cross-flow type
Three fan speed settings and auto setting
Automatic (motorized) vertical swing (up/down) and horizontal swing (left/right) louvers

Controls

The system shall have a built in Wi-Fi adapter as standard to allow control and monitoring using
the Samsung SmartThings app (Android, iOS)

Dual set temperature support when connected to MWR-WGOOUN Advanced Wired Controller.
The indoor unit shall have a simple connection for overflow detection devices or any other
normally closed contact for simple unit shutdown

The indoor unit shall ship with a wireless controller, holder, and batteries

Wired controller options available

Samsung central control compatible (MIM-R10UN accessory required)

Interconnect control wire between outdoor and indoor unit shall be 16AWG X 2

Convenience

System energy consumption can be viewed using the Samsung SmartThings mobile app or on
the indoor unit display using the included wireless controller**

Al (artificial intelligence) Auto Mode technology monitors factors such as indoor temperature,
outdoor temperature, set temperature, and operating time to learn the patterns within your
home to automatically adjust system operation to maximize occupant comfort and efficiency
(Wi-Fi connection required)

Eco Mode to reduce energy consumption during low demand operation

Smart install mode - startup system diagnostics operation to ensure system readiness during
initial operation

Auto restart

Auto Clean Function

Freeze Wash Function

7-segment digital display on front of unit to display temperature and unit status

"Fast" mode to quickly reach set temperature

Auto changeover

Good sleep mode

Quiet mode

Dry mode

Simple ON/OFF time function — Using the wireless controller specify the ON and/or OFF times
Electro-static, washable, main filter as standard accessible from the top of unit

Filter cleaning reminder

PRoedee:
SHA-R S12AB 12ABC-2306A




SAMSUNG

Optional Accessories

Aspen Mini Orange
Condensate pump

Blue Diamond

. Advanced

Wired controller *

Simple Touch
Wired controller sub-PCB
24 VAC thermostat adapter '
External temperature sensor
Central control interface module

External contact control interface module 2

Line sets - insulated and flared, interconnect cables included

Wall bracket (for outdoor unit)
Front
Back

Wind Baffle / Guard

SUBMITTAL AR12CSDABWKNCYV / AR12CSDABWKXCV Page 2 of 4
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Samsung WindFree™* 3.0,

Optional Accessories

ASP-MO-UNIV 110-250
BD-BLUE-230
MWR-WGO0UN
MWR-SH11UN
MIM-AOOUN
MIM-AG0UN
MRW-TA
MIM-R10UN
MIM-B14

25' - 1LS2506
50" - ILS5006
CKN-250
WBF-3M
WBB-5M

' Sub-PCB model MIM-AOOUN is required when connecting optional wired controllers or MIM-A60UN 24VAC thermostat adapter.
2 When applying MIM-B14 external contact control interface module, MIM-AOOUN wired controller sub-PCB is required.

Aug 9, 2023 RCM Agengla,
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SamsungHVAC.com
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SAMSUNG

SUBMITTAL AR12CSDABWKNCV / AR12CSDABWKXCV

Samsung WindFree™* 3.0,

Indoor unit dimensional drawing
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MOUNTING PLATE
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SAMSUNG

SUBMITTAL AR12CSDABWKNCYV / AR12CSDABWKXCV Page 4 of 4

Outdoor unit dimensional drawing
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TOWN OF comMoX STAFF REPORT

REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING Meeting Date: August 9, 2023
TO: Mayor and Council FILE:
FROM: Shelley Ashfield DATE: July 31, 2023

SUBJECT: CVRD Conveyance Project Nighttime Works

Prepared by: Supervisor: Financial Approved: Report Approved:
Shelley Ashfield, Director Clive Freundlich, Fin. Director | Jordan Wall, CAO
Operations

RECOMMENDATION(S) FROM THE CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER:

THAT Council delegate authority to administration to review and approve variances to Bylaw No.
1652 for construction at night for the CVRD Sewer System Conveyance Project if it aligns with the
Traffic Management Strategy which was presented to the Comox Valley Sewage Commission on
February 14, 2023 and attached to this report.

ALTERNATIVES TO THE RECOMMENDATION:

Alternative 1 - THAT Council do not delegate authority to administration for review and approval of
variances to Bylaw No. 1652, requiring them to be approved by council.

Approval of this alternative will require further discussions with the CVRD and likely changes to their
procurement documents to inform contractors that efficiencies of night work proposed in the Traffic
Management Strategy are not assured, and thus increase proposal costs. Further it will result in
increasing the length of time traffic will be delayed in Comox.

PURPOSE

To seek delegation authority for Town Staff to allow for the implementation of the Traffic
Management Strategy of the CVRD Sewer System Conveyance Project, which includes an allowance
for night work within the Town to minimise cost and disruption to the public.

BACKGROUND

The CVRD Sewer System Conveyance Project (SSCP) is a major infrastructure project which traverses
the Town of Comog, installing regional sewer infrastructure, replacing aging municipal infrastructure
and implementing major surface work projects. This project will have major impacts to the Town'’s
residents and businesses. To minimise these impacts a Traffic Management Strategy (TMS) was
produced, in consultation with many stakeholders including Town of Comox staff and the Comox BIA.
The TMS was refined based on this engagement and was received by the Sewage Commission on
February 14, 2023.
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Staff Report to Mayor and Council — August 9, 2023 m m
age

CVRD Conveyance Project — Nighttime Works

The TMS includes an allowance for nighttime work along Comox Avenue between the Town’s west
boundary and Glacier View Drive, as the road width is narrow and one lane of daytime traffic needs
to be maintained at all times. Nighttime works are required to ensure standard construction methods
can be utilized, minimizing construction duration, and project costs.

The other section of road, Administration would consider nighttime works is on Beaufort Avenue
between Church St and Nordin St at this is a very busy area and if the contractor could demonstrate
that the construction window would be reduced, administration would support this request.

The allowances for night work in both these specific areas have been transferred into the contract
documents that are being released for tender in September. Contractors will schedule and price the
work based on the knowledge that night work on Comox Avenue west of Glacier View Drive is
acceptable and nighttime works on Beaufort between Church Street and Nordin Street would be
considered if the contractor can demonstrate a benefit.

ANALYSIS/ISSUES/IMPLICATIONS

Currently, any night work requires a variance to Bylaw No. 1652, which can only be approved by
Council. If CVRD proceed per the TMS and drafting of tender package, then contractor pricing will
be based on the acceptability of night work in the areas defined by the contract documents. If then,
during construction, the contractor’s application for night work is delayed or rejected due to the
process of gaining a variance to Bylaw No. 1652, the project will be exposed to contractor claims.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

Calculating the financial implications of contractor claims due to this issue are not possible due to the
numerous variables. The range of implications vary from single day equipment standby claims to a
complete change in means and methods of construction requiring different equipment. On Comox
Avenue specifically, the financial implications are significant.

COMMUNICATION

The Traffic Management Strategy is a public document which CVRD has, and will continue to, engage
the public on. During the engagement with stakeholders, no stakeholders challenged the concept of
night work in these two areas.

Once the project has construction schedules from contractors, a significant communication campaign
will commence by CVRD to inform residents about timing of impacts to specific areas. This will
include information on areas that will experience night work, and the parameters around that work.

PROJECT TIMELINE
O Tender: Fall 2023
0 Construction start: Spring 2024
O Forcemain complete Jane Place to Torrence: Fall 2024
0 Forcemain complete Town’s West boundary to Jane Place: Spring 2025
O Surface works complete: Summer 2026
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Staff Report

DATE: February 9, 2023
FILE: 5330-20/SSCP

TO: Chair and Members
Sewage Commission

Supported by Russell Dyson
Chief Administrative Officer

FROM: Russell Dyson

Chief Administrative Officer R. Dyson
RE: Sewer System Conveyance Project — Traffic Management Strategy
Purpose

To provide the final Traffic Management Strategy (TMS) completed as part of the Sewer System
Conveyance Project (SSCP) and summary of the stakeholder consultation.

Recommendation from the Chief Administrative Officer:
For information purposes only.

Executive Summary

Due to the extent and anticipated duration of construction for the SSCP, the project will have
significant impacts to traffic throughout the course of construction. As such, traffic impacts have
been identified as a key project risk and a TMS has been developed by Urban Systems with input
from stakeholders and project partners.

The TMS is intended to outline the proposed traffic management strategies for each portion of the
project that result in the least disturbance, but does not provide the details for how or when (for the
most part) construction must occur. The TMS provides the guidelines that the contractor must
comply with when developing their own traffic management plans. The actual construction schedule
and details for when work will be occurring throughout the project alignment will be informed by
the contractor’s own schedules and traffic management plans, which will be completed later in
spring 2023. The final TMS is attached as Appendix A and key recommendations are summarized
below:

e The length of the construction zone and resulting single lane alternating traffic has been
shown to significantly impact traffic capacity and resulting delays on Comox Road and
Comox Avenue. In a comprehensive review of options, it was determined that unidirectional
westbound traffic has a number of benefits over single lane alternating and should be
implemented during construction. This option includes:

O Free-flowing westbound traffic through construction zones on Comox
Road/Avenue from Rodello Street to the 17" Street Bridge.

0 Eastbound traffic would detour into Comox through Ryan Road and Lerwick Road.
Detoured traffic is generally making right turns which minimizes the impact on
traffic performance.

O Unidirectional traffic does not limit the length of the contractors working zone,
increasing efficiency of construction and ultimately decreasing construction duration
along Comox Road and Avenue.

O Access for emergency vehicles in both directions will be ensured at all times.

0 Two-way pedestrian and cyclist access along the corridor can be accommodated and
will be required.
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O For some sections along Comox Road, full night-time shutdowns during off-peak
hours will be accommodated to facilitate construction.

O Due to the two-contract nature of this project, construction will be occurring at
different times on different sections of Comox Road, impacting the extent of the
unidirectional traffic. Eastbound traffic will be allowed along sections of Comox
Road that are not under construction. Significant signage and communications will
be required to coordinate between the two contract working zones.

e Construction closures through the Town of Comox local road network should be limited to
a maximum of two blocks at a time and will need to include access considerations for all
residences and businesses.

e Back Road will be discouraged from being used as a detour route and traffic calming
measures will be considered to reduce speeds and traffic loads.

e No construction work within the Town of Comox or on Comox Road for three days prior
to or during Nautical Days festival.

e No full or partial closures to the Comox boat launch or the marina from May 1 to October 1
annually.

In development of the TMS, meetings, presentations and surveys have been completed with varying
stakeholder groups to provide an overview of the project, discuss traffic impacts and solicit
feedback. Engagement included meetings with key stakeholder groups such as emergency services,
BC Transit and the School District, presentations to Town and City Councils and downtown
business associations, and engagement through a survey for other private utilities and stakeholders.
During the development of the TMS, all stakeholders were provided the opportunity to comment
on the draft TMS and every comment received has been reviewed and follow-up responses

provided.

The Comox Valley Regional District understands that keeping the public propetly informed about
traffic impacts will be key to managing traffic flows during the project and to maintaining public
trust in the process. The project team is committed to keeping the public informed about this
project and has hired a dedicated communication role for the SSCP to ensure open and consistent
communications with partners, stakeholders and the public leading up to and during project
construction. More details about planned project communication and engagement will be provided
at subsequent Sewage Commission meetings.

Prepared by: Concurrence: Concurrence: Concurrence:

Z. Berkey C. Gore K. La Rose M. Rutten

Zoe Berkey, P.Eng. Charlie Gore, P.Eng,. Kris LLa Rose, P.Eng. Marc Rutten, P.Eng.

Senior Manager of Senior Manager of General Manager of

Engineering Analyst Capital Projects Water/Wastewater Engineering Services
Services

Government and Community Interests Distribution (Upon Agenda Publication)

City of Courtenay v
Town of Comox v
K’6moks First Nation v

Attachments: Appendix A — “Sewer Conveyance Project, Traffic Management Strategy,” Urban
Systems, January 2023
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1.0 Overview

The Comox Valley Sewer Conveyance Project is a multi-year construction project that will
replace the conveyance pipe and upgrade the pump stations that move more than 14,000
cubic metres of raw sewage each day to the sewage treatment plant on Brent Road. This
new system will route sewer pipes further inland away from the foreshore and provide
increased capacity in the system.

The project scope includes upgrades to existing infrastructure and new piping infrastructure
that will be installed between the Courtenay Pump Station on Comox Road and the Comox
Valley Water Pollution Control Centre (CVWPCC). The conveyance route, outlined in Fig 1.1,
moves through the lands under jurisdiction by the City of Courtenay, the Comox Valley
Regional District, Kémoks First Nation, and the Town of Comox.

Figure 1.1 - Sewer Conveyance Project Alighment

Construction will include traditional trenching (‘cut and cover’) pipe installation along Comox
(Dyke) Road, Comox Hill, Comox Avenue (to Rodello Street), Beaufort Avenue, Stewart Street,
Balmoral Avenue and Morland Road. The pipe will be tunneled from Lazo Road to Morland
Road and will cross through Lazo Marsh to the treatment plant. The project will also include a
new, relocated, Courtenay Pump Station and upgrades to the K'émoks Pump Station in IR#1
and Comox Pump Station located at Jane Place in the Town of Comox.

The Comox Valley Sewer Conveyance Project will be constructed and funded in one phase
but will include two separate construction contracts. One contract will be delivered as a
Design-Build contract noted by the purple and orange alignments in Fig 1.1 with the second
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contract being a conventional Design-Bid-Build (DBB) contract for works generally through
the Town of Comox.

The CVRD is working with the K'émoks First Nation to protect archaeologically sensitive
areas during construction to preserve cultural heritage sites, ancestral burial places and
artifacts. It is also collaborating with the Town of Comox to ensure smooth and efficient
delivery of the project that will see planned infrastructure improvements for the Town
delivered in conjunction with the sewer project to minimize disruption to homes and
businesses along the route.

1.1 Traffic Strategy Purpose

The conveyance route and surface works comprising the project will have significant impacts
to traffic movements in vicinity of the works, and the greater roadway network. The purpose
of the Traffic Management Strategy is to understand the impact that the construction of the
new infrastructure will have on all modes of travel and to identify a proactive strategy for
mitigating community impacts to the greatest extent possible. Mitigation strategies range
from traffic management, to travel demand management and strategic commmunications.
The strategy is intended to address concerns identified by the project team and impacted
users and is intended to be refined through on-going discussions.

It is expected that this strategy, along with contract specifications will help guide
construction in a way that can minimize disruptions to traffic, residents and other corridor
users. The recommendations of this strategy will ultimately support the contractors in
preparing detailed Traffic Management Plans for the project. As such, much of the strategy
is focused on project level traffic impacts through the corridor and the wider network. While
localized impacts are noted, and mitigations are recommended for all project sections, many
of the localized management opportunities should be implemented through project specific
needs and consideration for local bylaws and determined with conversations with the
eventual contractors for these works.

The recommendations in this report are based on the anticipated construction approach and
resulting traffic management requirements. However, the recommendations in this Traffic
Management Strategy will likely be refined in conjunction with the successful contractors
and implementation will be subject to the contractors’ work plans.
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2.0 Construction Parameters

The following sections highlight several project parameters that have been considered with
respect to preparing a thorough and specific traffic management strategy for the project
corridor.

2.1 Construction Sequencing

As noted above, the project is being delivered in two contracts. The expectation is that both
contracts will be advancing at the same time at various locations along the construction
corridor. The Traffic Management Strategy, and ultimate Traffic Management Plans, will
need to consider that more than one (or two) construction zones may be impacting traffic at
the same time at different locations. It will be important that cormmunications during
construction and schedules prepared by the various contractors take this into account.

2.2 Project Timing

The work is anticipated to start in mid 2023 and take upwards of 24 months to complete.
Timing will ultimately depend on the final extent of the rehabilitation works and the
approach to construction phasing proposed by the contractors.

It is not expected that the contractors will be expected to follow a prescribed schedule for
works along the corridor. This will impact traffic as the closures noted in this strategy could
be implemented at any time or at various times during the contract period. Again, this will
require significant communication during construction and schedules prepared by the
various contractors will need to take this into account.

2.3 Surface Roadway Improvements

As part of the project there are several roadway improvements that are also planned which
are intended to greatly improve traffic circulation. These upgrades include:

e A new roundabout located at the intersection of Glacier View Drive and Comox
Avenue within the Town of Comox.

¢ A new roundabout located at the intersection of Comox Avenue and Rodello Street
within the Town of Comox; and

e Roadway corridor improvements on Beaufort Avenue from Ellis Street to Stewart
Street within the Town of Comox.

e Roadway corridor improvements on Balmoral Avenue from Stewart Street to
Pritchard Street and Donovan Drive to Albatross within the Town of Comox

SEWAGE CONVEYNCE PROJECT - TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT STRATEGY — DRAFT REPORT 3
Comox Valley Regional District | November 2022

Aug 9, 2023 RCM Agenda Page 166



3

These roadway improvements are expected to be completed after the initial sewer
conveyance line has been installed but within the same contract.

2.4 Construction Corridor Expectations

The CVRD has been working closely with project partners and design teams to identify
expected construction impacts based on the proposed upgrades. The ultimate designs are
still being completed, and phasing and construction means will be the responsibility of the
contractors.

The installation of the sewer main has been designed to follow existing roadways for most of
the alignment. In general, it is expected that the installation of the sewer main throughout
the Comox Road corridor can be completed while still maintaining one lane of traffic, and
space for people who walk and cycle. There are localized exceptions to this which are
discussed further in the strategy. As the project moves into the Town of Comox and off
Comox Road it is expected that localized road closures will be required along Beaufort
Avenue and Stewart Street. Closures of Balmoral Avenue are also expected to facilitate the
sewer construction. Beyond Balmoral Avenue the installation changes to trenchless means
which will minimize impacts to traffic. Overall, the expected general construction impacts
are shown on Fig 2.1. For commmunications purposes we have broken down the construction
corridor into 8 separate sections which each have their own unique considerations and
challenges. These sections are further discussed in Section 5.

Due to the length of the project, and the two-contract approach, it is also expected that more
than one construction zone will be active at any given time throughout the project
timeframe. That is to say that at any given time during construction road users may
encounter no traffic impacts within the construction corridor or could encounter multiple
construction zones through the corridor.

The strategy has been prepared based on the expectation that long sections of the
construction corridor may be impacted at one time.

SEWAGE CONVEYNCE PROJECT - TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT STRATEGY — DRAFT REPORT 4
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3.0 Existing Traffic Conditions

The current traffic conditions and travel patterns along the Comox Road corridor and
through the Town of Comox, including daily traffic profiles, typical congestion, and travel
times near various locations along the construction route have been reviewed and are
summarized in the sections below.

The information presented in this report has been compiled from several sources. We
appreciate the cooperation of the project partners in providing critical information to better
inform the strategy. These sources are:

1) The Town of Comox Traffic Model,

2) The City of Courtenay Traffic Model,

3) The Town of Comox 2020 Transportation Master Plan Update; and

4) Traffic data received via StreetlLight Data, which gathers digital data from cellular and
navigation systems to provide mobility patterns.

It should be noted that for the traffic analysis we have generally used 2019 data as this
coincides with traffic data prepared for the Town of Comox Transportation Master Plan, as
well as it does not risk impacts to traffic patterns through the year due to COVID restrictions
that have periodically been in place over the last few years.

3.1 Daily Traffic Profile

The traffic along the Comox Road Corridor generally reaches a morning peak around 9 a.m.
and then continuously builds throughout the day and reaches the afternoon peak at
between 4 pm and 5 pm as shown by the 24-hour traffic profile in Fig 3.1.

The directional traffic on the corridor is slightly higher westbound throughout the day than it
is eastbound. During the PM peak hour directional traffic volumes vary from 600 to 900
vehicles per day. Additionally, the traffic volumes on the corridor are highest between the 17"
Street bridge and Glacier View Drive and decline as you head east into the urban core of the
Town of Comox.

SEWAGE CONVEYNCE PROJECT - TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT STRATEGY — DRAFT REPORT 6
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Figure 3.1 - 24-Hour Traffic Volume Profile (Comox Road E of 17th Street Bridge)

3.2 Seasonal Traffic Variations

There is minimal seasonal variation in the traffic volumes on Comox Road. The summer
weekday traffic volume is within 10% of the annual average daily traffic as shown in Table 3.1,
below.

Table 3.1: Comox Road Seasonal Traffic Comparison

_ East of 17t" Street Bridge | West of Rodello Street

Annual Average Daily Traffic (AADT) 15,700 13,800
Summer Weekday Daily Traffic 16,700 14,800
Variation (%) 6% 7%

3.3 Typical Traffic Condition

Google Typical Traffic indicates that afternoon traffic conditions are typically worse than
morning conditions. Traffic pressure is generally concentrated around the 17t Street Bridge,
Ryan Road and the town core on Comox Road as shown on Fig 3.2, below. Green indicates
light traffic, while orange and red indicate heavier traffic or congestion. On certain days,
actual traffic performance is worse than Google Typical Traffic's long-term average.

SEWAGE CONVEYNCE PROJECT - TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT STRATEGY — DRAFT REPORT 7
Comox Valley Regional District | November 2022

Aug 9, 2023 RCM Agenda Page 170



150 I I

Figure 3.2: Google Typical Traffic (Source: Google Traffic)

8:30 am 4:30 pm

3.4 Travel Pattern (Origin and Destination)

Origins and destinations of the Comox Road traffic is illustrated in Figure 3.33. The majority
of vehicles using Comox Road are travelling between the 17t Street Bridge and areas in the
core of the town near Comox Road. Approximately 90% of the traffic on Comox Road crosses

the 17* Street Bridge.

Figure 3.3. Origin and Destination of Comox Road Traffic (Source: Streetlight Big Data)

]OOo/o
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3.5 Travel Time

There are three main options to travel between the 17% Street Bridge and the Town of Comox
core, as shown in Figure 3.44. Generally, the travel distance via Comox Road is much less
compared to using Back Road or Lerwick Road, which requires circuitous routing.

Figure 3.4. Travel Route Options

Travel times along the three routes during a typical weekday PM peak hour have been
estimated using Google Typical Traffic information and transportation model data. Table 3.2
summarizes the typical travel time and distance of the three routes illustrated above.

Table 3.2. Google Travel Time between 17th Street and Comox Mall

Back Road Lerwick Road

Distance | Travel Distance Travel Distance Travel
(km) Time (km) Time (km) Time

From 17t Street to 7-10 12-18 12-22
Comox Mall min min min
55 km 8.6 km 10 km
From Comox Mall to 17t 7-14 12-20 14-24
Street min min min
SEWAGE CONVEYNCE PROJECT - TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT STRATEGY — DRAFT REPORT 9
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3.6 Transit

The project corridor is used extensively by BC Transit to provide transit services to the project
areas and beyond. Under current conditions BC Transit operates 4 routes (Route 1, 3, 4 and
15) that will be impacted by traffic disruptions. Other routes also have the potential to be
impacted if traffic detours from the construction zones to other corridors within the network.
The transit routes are noted in Fig 3.5 and are impacted by various locations of construction.

Figure 3.5 - Impacted Transit Routes
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3.7 Pedestrians and Cyclists

The construction corridor is extensively used by pedestrians and cyclists. Facilities include
sidewalks within the Town of Comox as well as dedicated cycling facilities along Comox
Avenue and Comox Road. Comox Road is used by commuter bike traffic connecting
between Comox and Courtenay while local road networks provide commuter and
recreational cycling routes. Beaufort Avenue for instance is signed a local cycling greenway
between Rodello Street and Ellis Street.

For all sections of the corridor, providing pedestrian and cyclist facilities for individuals to
safely navigate the corridor during the construction phase is crucial. Good connectivity for
pedestrians and cyclists will not only support the users’ safety but also encourage individuals
to choose walking or cycling instead of driving and help reduce congestion.

Communications, encouragement, and advertisements of other cycling routes beyond the
immediate project zones should also form part of the overall traffic strategy. Existing cycling
routes through Crown lIsle, northwest Comox and the Hobson Ave. corridor could provide
alternatives to Comox Road, Back Road and Lerwick Road during detours. The Comox Valley
Cycling Coalition maintains a detailed map of cycling routes throughout the valley and could
also be engaged to support cycling communications during construction.

SEWAGE CONVEYNCE PROJECT - TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT STRATEGY — DRAFT REPORT 1
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4.0 Traffic Conditions - During Construction

The following describes how the planned construction works will impact traffic. This includes
both the impacts on the transportation function of the construction corridor, as well as the
impact on local and network-wide traffic conditions.

Traffic modelling and analysis has been completed to understand the impact of construction
on Comox Road, local roads through the Town of Comox and the broader network. The
forcemain alignment is split between lower volume roads (collector or below) and collector
and arterial sections of Comox Road. For lower volume sections, the impacts from
construction are generally expected to be limited to localized traffic impacts. These impacts
are described in Section 5 as part of the Traffic Management Strategy. However, for sections
of Comox Road/Comox Avenue, there are three sections of forcemain that will have
significant impacts: Courtenay Pump Station to Farmview Road, west boundary of IR #1 to
Glacier View Drive, and Glacier View Drive to Rodello Street.

Along Comox Road from the Courtenay Pump Station site to Rodello Street, a variety of
different traffic management options were considered to understand the potential traffic
impacts of having a single lane available for traffic. These options included: short single lane
alternating (SLAT) segments, longer SLAT segments, full road closures, and unidirectional
traffic flows. These potential scenarios for traffic movement along Comox Road are
summarized in Table 4.2.

In addition to the traffic considerations, each option has different impacts on the contractors’
efforts and how effectively and efficiently they can complete the required work. Selection of
the preferred Traffic Management Strategy requires balancing traffic impacts, community
impacts and whether the constraints posed by the Traffic Management Strategy are overly
onerous for the contractors and will, therefore, impact how efficiently they can complete the
work.

4.1 Considerations for Single Lane Alternating Traffic

Single Lane Alternating Traffic (SLAT) is a typical mitigation measure that would be used for
navigating a single lane of traffic. Implementation of SLAT requires space for buffers, cone
tapers, traffic control people/temporary signals in addition to the construction or work
activity area as shown in Error! Reference source not found.. For example, a 50 m
construction area requires 190 m of SLAT while a 100 m construction area requires 240 m of
SLAT.

SEWAGE CONVEYNCE PROJECT - TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT STRATEGY — DRAFT REPORT 12
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Figure 4.1: Single Lane Alternating Traffic Space Requirements

The length of the single lane alternating segment has a significant impact on the roadway
capacity and the resulting delays. This is largely related to the time required to clear the
traffic and transition to traffic travelling in the opposite direction (i.e., the “All Red” time).
Table 4.1, below, summarizes the roadway capacity for four different length scenarios that
were reviewed for Comox Road. A construction area of 50 m to 100 m has a capacity of 400 to
500 vehicles per hour whereas increasing the construction area length to 220m results in a
50% reduction in capacity. Moving beyond a 250 m construction zone starts to significantly
impact the capacity of the corridor. Increasing the construction zone to 450 m or 750 m,
which aligns with potential sections of Comox Road reduces the capacity further to a point
where the SLAT severely impacts the overall network.

SEWAGE CONVEYNCE PROJECT - TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT STRATEGY — DRAFT REPORT 13
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Table 4.1: Single Lane Alternating Traffic Capacity Comparison

SLAT Length 240 m 390 m 590 m 890 m
“All Red” Time 35s 52s 1.5 min 2 min
Capacity (in each 415 veh/h 220 veh/h 150 veh/h <100 veh/h
drxn)

Based on corridor widths and constructability, it is understood that limiting the work zone to
a 100 m or 250 m construction area would be difficult and restrictive for the segment of
Comox Road from the Courtenay Pump Station to Farmview Road, as well as the section of
roadway between the west boundary of IR #land Rodello Street. The short length SLAT (i.e,,
100m to 250m) impacts the contractor’s ability to efficiently complete the required work and
would result in longer overall construction duration and increased costs and therefore short
length SLAT scenarios have not been brought forward as viable options.

Traffic impacts have been modelled within the network for a 450 m work zone and a 750 m
work zone which coincides with the length between Glacier View Drive and Rodello Street
and the length between the Courtenay Pump Station and Farmview Road. If these zones
were to operate as SLAT, the corridor volumes reduce to a point where less than 150 vehicles
per hour could navigate the zones with cycle times in the 4 to 5-minute range. Modeling
suggests that, under these scenarios, traffic does not clear through every cycle and
significant queues form at each end of the work zone. Based on the construction zone
lengths, the corridor operating in a SLAT scenario of 450 m to 750 m would be operating in a
similar way to a fully closed scenario and would have major network impacts.

As short SLAT (~100 m to ~250 m) was found to not be viable since it was too short for the
contractor to work efficiently and longer SLAT was found to not be viable due to the traffic
impacts, alternative configurations for Comox Road, including unidirectional traffic were
considered. All the potential Comox Road traffic scenarios are summarized below in Section
4.2,
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4.2 Comox Road Traffic Scenarios
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Based on the above, all the potential traffic scenarios that would enable the contractor to

effectively complete the required work have been modelled and reviewed for major sections

along Comox Road with the goal of identifying the scenario that is the least impactful. These

are summarized in Table 4.2, below. Note unidirectional traffic implies traffic in one direction

only.

Full Closure

Full Night
Closures

Long SLAT (650 m

Table 4.2 - Comox Road Traffic Scenarios

Full Closure of Comox Road
between Courtenay Pump
Station and Glacier View Drive.
Local Access only from Glacier
View Drive to Rodello Street.

Full Closures at night to
facilitate work with other traffic
scenario during the day.

Longer Sections of SLAT traffic

Network wide
congestion/gridlock.

Network wide transit impacts.
Need to enable local property/IR #1
access.

Nigh closures can be
accommodated with minimal
network impacts.

Closures should be limited to off-
peak hours (8pm to 6am).

Full closures will require a fully
signed and communicated detour.

Essentially same impacts as full

to 750 m through construction zones. closure.
Construction -Full Likely more than one ¢ Network wide
construction zone at one time. congestion/gridlock.
e Example: SLAT from Court i i
ple: rom Courtenay e Requires 4.5 min cycle length,
Pump Station to Farmview results in capacity 100 veh/h or less.
Road. e Delays/queues could be
problematic for site access.
e Network wide transit impacts.
e Need to enable local property
access.
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Long SLAT (450 m
Construction -Full
Length)

Comox Road
Unidirectional
Westbound

Comox Road
Unidirectional
Eastbound

Comox Road
Unidirectional

Shorter sections of SLAT traffic
through construction zones.
Likely more than one
construction zone at one time.
Example: SLAT from Glacier
View Drive to Rodello Street.

Unidirectional traffic
westbound from Rodello Street
to the 17t Street Bridge.
Detour route eastbound into
Comox through Ryan Road /
Lerwick Road

Unidirectional traffic eastbound
from the 17th Street Bridge to
Rodello Street. Detour route
westbound into Courtenay
through Lerwick Road / Ryan
Road

Unidirectional traffic
westbound from Rodello Street
to the 17th Street Bridge.

150 3 I

Network wide
congestion/gridlock.

4.0 min cycle length, results in
capacity of ~150 veh/h.
Delays/queues could be
problematic for site access.

Could allow transit and local access.
Need to restrict/manage access to
Comox Road from side
roads/driveways.

No significant
delays/congestion/queues.
Bypass would increase travel times
eastbound into Comox due to the
longer travel distance.

Traffic generally clears every cycle at
the signalized intersections with
signal optimization.

Detoured traffic (eastbound) is
generally making right-turns which
minimizes the impact on the traffic
performance.

Negative network impacts as
westbound traffic volumes are
higher than eastbound and
therefore requires more traffic to
detour than westbound
unidirectional on Comox Road.
Also requires the detoured traffic to
make left-turns on the detour route
which has a significant impact on
the traffic performance.

Back Road Eastbound provides no
benefits to traffic performance.
Back Road/Glacier View Road are

Westbound / JEIE ¢
Back Road Detour through. unidirectional collgctors and, therefore, not a
eastbound traffic on Back Road. desirable route to encourage as a
Unidirectional detour.
Eastbound
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Overall, based on the construction parameters and the above modelled scenarios operating
Comox Road in a unidirectional westbound configuration provides the least impact to traffic
flows along the construction corridor and the greater network. No other reviewed option
would be able to be implemented without significant negative impacts to the traffic
network. This option is also expected to be the least impactful from a schedule and costs
perspective as it allows flexibility for the contractors to work within a large zone of the
construction corridor and traffic management should be less intensive than SLAT or full
closure scenarios.

4.3 Work Through the Town of Comox

As the project progresses past Rodello Street onto local roads within the Town of Comox
traffic impacts shift from network considerations to local traffic and neighborhood impacts.
Construction along Beaufort Street, Stewart Street and Balmoral Avenue will have less
impact to the greater network but will impact residents and businesses.

The proposed mitigation impacts for local road are highlighted in Section 5 and are generally
following best practices for working within a local road network. For local traffic concerns,
the mitigations measures in this strategy are high level and it is likely they will not identify all
considerations. The construction efforts and contractor’s traffic management plans will need
to consistently monitor traffic impacts on a local scale and adjust as necessary based on
actual impacts. More specific considerations are discussed in more detail in Section 5.

4.4 Impacts to Transit

As noted, the work on Comox Road, Comox Avenue and the corridor through the Town of
Comox will have impacts to existing transit routes. To date there have been discussions with
BC Transit and the local transit provider to minimize these impacts and the CVRD wiill
continue to actively work with BC Transit and their team to provide mitigations where
possible. Based on the current transit routes, the following are expected impacts to the
existing routes noted previously in Fig 3.5.

Route 1 runs between the Comox Mall and the Anfield Center via North Island College. There
will be a minor impact to Route 1from the construction. Route 1 uses Stewart Street as a
circular turn around to access the transit exchange at the Comox Mall. Stewart Street will
need to be closed to traffic during the installation of the forcemain which will require transit
vehicles to detour around this section. It is expected that Pritchard Road can accommodate
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this detour. Construction sequencing will need to ensure this detour is open to transit during
Stewart Street Closures.

The route may also see impacts from increased general traffic along the route, specifically on
Anderton Road, Guthrie Road / Lerwick Road and Ryan Road. The CVRD is working with BC
Transit to quantify these travel time changes.

Route 3 is a circular route within the Town of Comox. The route will be impacted at several
locations throughout the Town of Comox due to the construction works. These impacts
include:

Comox Avenue and Rodello Street - The route runs south on Rodello Street and turns left
onto Comox Avenue. Forcemain and surface works will have an impact on this intersection
and could cause delays to transit. It is expected that transit vehicle can still be
accommodated through this intersection during construction. It isrecommended that the
traffic management plans should ensure this movement for transit vehicles is maintained.

Beaufort Avenue between Ellis Street and Stewart Street — Beaufort Avenue and Stewart
Street will experience rolling closures during the installation of the forcemain and the surface
works. Transit vehicles will be required to detour around these closures during construction.

Balmoral Avenue — The route runs east on Balmoral Avenue and turns northbound on
Torrence Road. For the forcemain installation and surface improvements it is expected that
there will be periods of full closures as well as periods of SLAT. During times of full closures
transit will need to detour around the construction zone.

Route 4 will be significantly impacted by the proposed change of traffic flow along Comox
Road between the 17t Street Bridge and Rodello Street. The current route includes travel
westbound and eastbound along Comox Road between the Comox Mall and the 17" Street
Bridge. In the unidirectional traffic scenario transit will not be able to run eastbound along
Comox Road as it does now. Transit vehicles would still be able to run westbound, with
traffic, along the route but the eastbound direction would need to be rerouted via the detour
or other routes.

Options were modelled where transit was provided priority eastbound through the
construction zones on Comox Road, however, it was found that this caused significant
impacts to the network as well as provided inconsistent travel timings for transit through the
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construction corridor. Based on this, it is recommended that Comox Road and Comox
Avenue between the 17t Street Bridge and Rodello Street be closed to eastbound transit
vehicles.

Route 15 will be impacted through the proposed change of traffic flow along Comox Avenue
between the Glacier View Drive and Rodello Street. Currently transit vehicles travel
eastbound and westbound along Back Road / Glacier View Drive to Comox Avenue and
along Comox Avenue to the Comox Mall. The proposed unidirectional traffic scenario will
restrict the eastbound route between Rodello Street and Glacier View Drive.

Route 15 also uses Stewart Street as a circular turn around to access the transit exchange at
the Comox Mall. Stewart Street will need to be closed to traffic during the installation of the
forcemain which will require transit vehicles to detour around this section. It is expected that
Pritchard Road can accommodate this detour. Construction sequencing will need to ensure
this detour is open to transit during Stewart Street Closures.

There is a school district bus route that serves the KFN community on Comox Road and Back
Road. Bus route 850 is a dedicated route that travels from Courtenay eastbound on Comox
Road, picks up children at KFN and travels eastbound into Comox and along Glacier View
Drive and Back Road to bring children to various schools.

This route will be impacted due to the proposed traffic changes. The CVRD should inform
and initiate discussions with the School District and KFN regarding this route and possible
detours or other considerations for this bus route.
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5.0 Traffic Management Strategy

Based on review of traffic data, modelled traffic scenarios and constructability constraints, we
can provide the following consideration and recommendations with respect to a proposed
traffic strategy for project construction. These considerations and recommendation should
be included and built upon in project specific traffic management plans for the project that
will provide specific means and methods for implementing the recommmendations of the
strategy. Figure 5.1 includes a general summary of the impacts.

While the analysis and background has narrowed in on the Comox Road corridor, localized
impacts are equally as important, specifically through residential areas within the Town of
Comox.

Figure 5.1 - Traffic Strategy Overview
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5.1 General Traffic Movements

Based on the network traffic analysis results, a review of stakeholder input, and through
discussions with the project partners, the recommended Comox Road traffic management
option is to operate Comox Road as a unidirectional westbound only route during periods of
time when forcemain installation requires single lane traffic on Comox Road. It is
recommended that the unidirectional traffic control would be in place 24 hours per day,
except when a night work requires a full closure of Comox Road.

This option minimizes the traffic impacts on the network while also enabling the contractor
to complete the project reasonably efficiently since there is no limitation on the length of the
construction zone/excavation. It also provides flexibility between the two contractors as
multiple construction zones can operate concurrently within this configuration. This will
involve a level of communication and planning between the two contracts, but this would be
necessary with all traffic pattern changes.

The official signed detour route for eastbound traffic would be via Ryan Road, Lerwick Road
and Anderton Road. Some traffic will likely choose to use Back Road and Glacier View Drive;
however, this will be actively discouraged as an official detour route as it is a residential
collector road. Back Road traffic management considerations are discussed further in
Section 5.4, below. The general flow and detour route configuration are shown in Fig 5.2.

Figure 5.2 - Comox Road and Detour Traffic Route
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As the eastbound traffic using Comox Road / Comox Avenue will divert via the assignhed
detour route, the eastbound travel time for the diverting traffic is anticipated to increase due
to this being a less direct route. However, traffic analysis indicates that the overall travel time
changes for the detour routes are generally comparable to pre-construction conditions
despite the change in travel patterns. This is partially due to traffic at certain locations,
namely the northbound left turn at the 17t Street and Comox Road intersection,
experiencing less delays without eastbound traffic compared to today. The reduction of
delays at various locations offset the slightly increased delays along the remaining detour
routes on Ryan Road, Lerwick Road and Anderton Road. The impacts of the detour are also
minimized as the detour has vehicles making right hand turns for most of the route. In short,
the eastbound travelers that use Comox Road / Comox Avenue today will experience longer
travel time mainly due to longer travel distance. The travel time of detour routes will be
similar to the existing conditions illustrated in Table 3.2, which means travel times of 5to 12
minutes more when diverting through the detour for vehicles traveling from the 17" Street
Bridge into the Town of Comox. General traffic using Ryan Road and Lerwick Road travelling
to other destinations will see increased traffic, but the intersections are able to accommodate
this increase and travel times are not noticeably longer within the greater network.

However, to best accommmodate the diversion of eastbound travel through the detour route,
several signalized intersections require signal re-timing. The timing of these intersections to
provide additional volume in movements along the detour is critical to a balanced network
and keeping similar travel times to existing. Based on the modeling, below is a list of the
signals that require signal timing adjustments by priority.

High priority

17" Street & Comox Road
Island Highway & Ryan Road
Ryan Road & Sandwick Road
Ryan Road & Back Road

Medium Priority

o Cliffe Avenue & 17" Street

e Ryan Road & North Island Highway
e Ryan Road & Lerwick Road

e Guthrie Road & Aspen Road

e Guthrie Road & Anderton Road

e Anderton Road & Noel Avenue

¢ Comox Avenue & Anderton Road

Low Priority

e Remaining signals in Comox and Courtenay
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Locations ranked as high priority indicate that the signal timings would require to be re-
timed to ensure the detour traffic can flow through the detour route efficiently. Locations
ranked as a medium priority mean that these locations will likely require signal re-timing to
best accommodate the traffic patterns at a network level. Locations ranked as low priority
indicate that these locations will not likely require immediate signal re-timing but should be
monitored throughout the construction phase on an as-needed basis.

We recommend that the CVRD open discussions with the various jurisdictions and confirm
the ability to and process for reviewing and revising signal timing of these intersections
during construction.

9.2 Emergency Vehicle Access

Based on the recommended scenario, portions of Comox Road would be greatly impacted
from access by emergency vehicles. In a westbound traffic scenario, it is recommended that
provisions in the traffic management plans be made to accommodate emergency vehicle
access from both westbound and eastbound points at any location along Comox Road and
the works zones. Depending on the location of the works, the set up of the work zones and
traffic flows, this would be expected to be supported by either traffic management
personnel, traffic lights with emergency pre-emption or other means of providing immediate
westbound and eastbound emergency vehicle access against eastbound flowing general
traffic.

Beyond Comox Road, throughout the project corridor access for emergency vehicles is a
priority for all residences and buildings. All construction corridors through the site day and
night will have plans in place to always accommodate emergency vehicles during the project
works. Emergency service providers should also have the chance to review submitted traffic
management plans for the works.

5.3 Considerations for Full Closures on Comox Road

As noted, there are sections of the corridor that require a full shut down to traffic to facilitate
the installation of the forcemain (Section 1 and portions of Section 4 — Fig 2.1). For these
sections, it is recommended that if a full shut down of Comox Road is required, that it occur
at off-peak travel times to reduce impacts to the network. For full shutdowns of traffic, the
detour for westbound traffic should follow the detour being proposed for eastbound traffic
(via Anderton Road, Lerwick Road and Ryan Road). Any shutdowns and detour routes will
need to be adequately signed, communicated to the public and all impacted users of the
corridor and considerations for local emergency vehicle access would need to be confirmed.
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Based on the volume patterns on the corridor we would recommend that any full shutdowns
occur between 8 p.m. and 6 a.m. Project partners should be consulted regarding any timing
of shutdowns. Also, for emergency access considerations Section 1and Section 4 (Fig 5.1) for
the corridor should not be closed to traffic at the same time as to allow access to both ends
of any construction zones.

For areas outside the above noted corridor section, accommodation of night work is not
recommended based on the proximity to homes and residential neighbourhoods. However,
there may be some extremely limited circumstances where night work outside of the
specified corridor section may be necessary.

9.4 Back Road Traffic Management Considerations

The official detour route for eastbound traffic will be via Ryan Road, Lerwick Road and
Anderton Road since these roads are arterials and designed to accommodate higher traffic
volumes. All communications and signage will encourage motorists to use this route.
However, some motorists who are familiar with the area may use Back Road and Glacier View
Drive. These roads are classified as collector roads with residential fronting the roadway.

The two key potential issues associated with detour traffic using Back Road and Glacier View
Drive are excessive traffic volumes and excessive speed, both of which can contribute to
safety issues. A series of escalating traffic calming measures can be implemented to
discourage use of the route as a detour and support motorists in selecting an appropriate
speed.

Potential traffic calming measures for Back Road include:

1. speed reader boards,

2. temporary curb extensions using Traffic Calming Curbs' at pedestrian crossing desire
lines.

3. speed humps; and

While these measures can help discourage use of this corridor as a detour route, these
measures and speed humps, in particular, are often not universally supported by local
residents. Therefore, the benefits of traffic calming should be weighed against the impact on
residents and an appropriate balance sought. Increased police enforcement can also support
the use of appropriate speeds. Based on the need for reduced traffic flows on Back Road we

' Traffic Calming Curbs: https:;//www.calgary.ca/roads/safety/traffic-calming-curbs.html
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would recommend that the above three noted measures are considered and included in the
initial traffic management plans for the project.

Should the above measures not be sufficient to discourage use of Back Road as a detour
route, a barricade could be added such that Back Road is temporarily no longer a through
route with local access considerations. Allowing Back Road to only flow in a westerly
direction for certain sections could also be considered. These options would have a
significant impact on accessibility for residents and emergency services and therefore it is
only recommended as a last resort after further engagement with residents and emergency
services. The closure would also need to be designed to accommodate a turnaround for
vehicles on either side of the barrier.

Existing average traffic volumes for Back Road are in the 2,000 to 2,500 veh/day range. Traffic
volumes during construction can be monitored against these existing conditions to support
consideration for escalating measures during construction.

9.5 Cyclist and Pedestrian Accommodations

Providing pedestrian and cyclist facilities for individuals to safely navigate during the
construction phase is crucial. Good connectivity for pedestrians and cyclists will not only
support users’ safety but also encourage individuals to choose walking or cycling instead of
driving and help reduce congestion.

It is recommended that, for portions of Comox Road from Rodello Street to the 17%" Street
Bridge, access for pedestrians and cyclists is maintained during construction apart from
periods of full closures. The following considerations are desirable to accommodate two-way
cyclists. Of note, the below assumes that travel lane minimums are 3.3 m which is typically
accepted as a reduced travel lane that will accommmodate transit buses. Additionally, all of
these dimensions are to the edge of the work zone and it is assumed that the contractor will
provide the any required barriers and setback from the barrier within their work zone.

Bike accommodation options through the construction site should generally follow the
following dimensions:

¢ Unidirectional bike lanes (all same side of excavation)

= 1.5 m westbound bike lane

= 33 m westbound vehicle lane
= 1.5 m eastbound bike lane

= TOTAL 6.3 m (minimum)

¢ Westbound bike share vehicle lane through construction zone

= 3.3 m westbound vehicle lane (westbound bikes will be instructed to take
the lane)

SEWAGE CONVEYNCE PROJECT - TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT STRATEGY — DRAFT REPORT 25
Comox Valley Regional District | November 2022

Aug 9, 2023 RCM Agenda Page 188



= 15 m eastbound bike lane
* TOTAL 4.8 m (minimum)

A bi-directional bike facility is not recommended since it requires the cyclists to cross the
vehicle lane to access the facility and then cross back to continue their journey at the end of
the work zone. Additionally, the minimum recommended width for a bi-directional bike
facility is 3.0 m. Therefore, a bi-directional bike facility provides no space savings compared to
two 1.5 m unidirectional bike lanes. Additionally, motorists are often not expecting bi-
directional cyclists which can increase safety risks.

For the section of Comox Road from the Courtenay Pump Station to Farmview Road it is
understood that there will be a total of 5.9 m? available to accommodate all modes through
the construction site while there is a total of 5.3 m? available from Bayside Road to Glacier
View Drive. Based on the required dimensions, outlined above, the recommmended approach
for both segments is to provide an eastbound bike lane with westbound bikes instructed to
take the vehicle lane through the construction zone. This has the added benefit of not
needing to have cyclists’ cross traffic at the end of the zones as would be the case with a
single shared lane on one side. With the limited space available the eastbound bike lane will
need to also accommodate pedestrian traffic. The lane should be signed accordingly to
communicate this to cycling traffic.

For Comox Road from the IR #1 west boundary to Bayside Road there is additional width
available. provision of unidirectional bike lanes in both directions plus a 3.3 m westbound
vehicle travel lane is recommended.

With respect to pedestrians, the entire corridor is used by pedestrians. On Comox Road, the
westbound shoulder should be maintained as a pedestrian corridor through the construction
zone and access to various properties on the east side of Comox Road will need to be
accommodated in traffic management plans.

9.6 Section Specific Traffic Management Considerations

Further to the above project considerations, the Traffic Management Strategy has been
broken down into eight traffic mitigation sections as per Fig 5.1. Each section is discussed in
greater detail below.

259 m is based on the contractor's work zone extending to the center line. This leaves 5.9 m
from the center line to edge of pavement.

353 mis based on the contractor's work zone extending to the center line. This leaves 5.3 m
from the center line to the asphalt curb.
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9.7 Section 1 -Comox Road (Courtenay Pump Station to Farmview Road)

Section 1 involves approximately 650 m of forcemain installation within Comox Road from
the Courtenay Pump Station to Farmview Road. To facilitate the construction works on
Comox Road, single lane westbound traffic should be in place during the construction within
the roadway.

Construction at the Courtenay Pump Station site is expected to have minimal traffic impacts
as the work is occurring off Comox Road. However, traffic control should be provided on
Comox Road, as necessary, to facilitate safe access to the site for construction vehicles and
material deliveries.

Figure 5.3 - Section 1 Traffic Mitigation Plan

Other mitigation measures for Section 1 that should be addressed in a traffic management
plan include:

e Ensuring adequate signage and notice for the traffic impacts;

e Ensuring emergency access through and beyond the construction zone (eastbound
and westbound); and

e Providing accommodation for pedestrian and cyclists through the construction zone.

Based on the location, there could be the opportunity to have full closures during off peak
times as per Section 5.3 without major impacts to residents and homes. Any shutdowns
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would need to be signed and communicated and considerations for emergency vehicle
access would need to be confirmed.

Access for pedestrian and cyclists through this section, as per Section 5.5, should be always
maintained, except during periods of full closures during off peak times.

5.8 Section 2 -Farmview Road and Agricultural Land

Section 2 involves installation of the forcemain along a section of Farmview Road, north of
Comox Road, a portion of Scott Road and through agricultural land. The traffic impacts for
work along this segment are expected to be minimal beyond local impacts. Mitigation
measures for Section 2 that should be addressed in a traffic management plan include:

e The work will impede the access to several homes and cross several driveways along
Farmview Road. Planning of work will need to consider access for residents.

e The work along Scott Road will impact access to homes. A local access should be
maintained during the work for these residents.

e |tisexpected that construction traffic will need to enter and exit Farmview Road and
Scott Road off Comox Road. Traffic control means should be provided to
accommodate construction traffic accessing the site.

e Access for emergency vehicles will need to be accommodated to all residences.

Figure 5.4 — Section 2 Traffic Mitigation Plan
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9.9 Section 3 - Comox Road (IR #1 West Boundary to Bayside Road)

Section 3 involves 650 m of forcemain installation within Comox Road from the K'émoks First
Nation IR #1 west boundary to Bayside Road. This is the last section of the Design-Build
Scope on Comox Road.

To facilitate the construction works on Comox Road, single lane westbound traffic should be
in place during the construction within the roadway. Opportunities to maintain localized 2-
way traffic to provide a connection for local access to homes and the K'émoks First Nation
Administration Buildings could be considered, but feasibility of this would need to be
confirmed with the contractor.

Local traffic access to Queneesh Road and Bayside Road should always be maintained
during construction with a specific access plan or local bypass in place for the forcemain
crossings at each intersection.

Like other segments, access through the corridor should be maintained for pedestrian and
cyclists for the duration of the works, as per Section 5.5.

Figure 5.5 - Section 3 Traffic Mitigation Plan
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9.10 Section 4 - Comox Road (Bayside Road to West of Glacier View Drive)

Section 4 includes a section of Comox Road from Bayside Road to west of Glacier View Drive.

Based on the general traffic recommendations, Section 4 should be operated as westbound
single lane unidirectional traffic during construction in the roadway that require single lane
traffic.

It has been noted that a full closure to traffic is required to accommodate the force main
installation on Comox Road between Bayside Road and Glacier View Drive. Full closures
should only be accommodated at night and follow the recommendations noted in Section
5.3 and be minimized where possible. This section does have driveways on the south side of
Comox Road that will need to be accommodated for access. It is recommended that
discussions should be had with these residents regarding any restrictions or full shutdowns.

Other traffic mitigation recommmendations for this corridor are included in Fig 5.6.

Figure 5.6 — Section 4 Traffic Mitigation Plan
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9.11 Section 5 - Comox Avenue (Glacier View Drive to Rodello Street)

Section 5 includes the section of Comox Avenue from Glacier View Drive to Rodello Street
and includes the Glacier View Drive and Rodello Street intersections, both of which are being
significantly improved with roundabouts after initial installation of the forcemain. Note that
for the purposes of this report Comox Road changes to Comox Avenue at the Town of Comox
boundary located west of the Glacier View Drive intersection.

Based on the general traffic recommendations, Section 5 should be operated as westbound
single lane unidirectional traffic during construction in the roadway that require single lane
traffic.

Under a unidirectional traffic pattern, access to Glacier View Drive from Comox Avenue will
be important to remain open during construction. Glacier View Drive will provide a return
access point to the local network for vehicles and will act as an offramp for vehicles entering
from the south side of Comox Avenue. For instance, residents of Manor Drive would be able
to turn left on Comox Avenue and right on Glacier View Drive allowing them back into
Comox rather than being required to continue west on Comox Road. Local neighborhood
traffic calming, and measures noted in Section 5.4, and signage should be implemented for
Glacier View Drive and the local network to discourage unnecessary traffic trying to detour
around the construction zones.

Once the forcemain installation is complete through this section, it is expected that
unidirectional traffic or shorter SLAT segments will be used during the construction of the
surface works at the Glacier View Drive and Rodello Street intersections. Discussions with
the design team and eventual contractor should confirm if this is achievable from a
constructability perspective.

Other traffic impacts a mitigation recommendation for this corridor are included in Fig 5.7.
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Figure 5.7 - Section 5 Traffic Mitigation Plan

9.12 Section 6 - Beaufort Avenue/Stewart Street (Rodello Street to Balmoral Avenue)

Section 6 includes portions of Rodello Street and Beaufort Road through the Town of Comox
to Stewart Street and northbound to Balmoral Avenue. The forcemain in this corridor will be
installed within the existing roadway, which will require closure of the roadway for most
sections. When roadway closures are required, contractors should work one or two blocks at
a time with rolling single/double block closures to traffic to minimize impacts. Double block
closures should be minimized and only accommodated where shown to be necessary. Local
access to homes and businesses will need to be accommodated and communicated with
the property owners. At a minimum, pedestrian access to all homes and businesses should
be always maintained.

This corridor includes access points to the Town of Comox Marina and boat launch. It has
been agreed to with the Town of Comox that no full or partial access closures to the boat
launch will be accommodated between May 15t and October 1t as to not restrict boat access.

The Town of Comox marina also hosts “Nautical Days” which is typically held on the BC Day
long weekend. It has been agreed to with the Town of Comox that construction must not
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impact Comox Road and any roads within the Town of Comox boundary three days prior to,
or during the Nautical Days festival. This should be included and confirmed in the traffic
management plans for the project.

Additional traffic Impacts and mitigation recormmendations are included in Fig 5.8 for this
corridor.

Figure 5.8 — Section 6 Traffic Mitigation Plan

9.13 Section 7 -Balmoral Avenue (Stewart Street to Torrence Road)

Section 7 includes a section of Balmoral Road between Stewart Street and Torrence Road.
The forcemain in this corridor will be installed within the existing roadway, which will require
either full closures or a reduction to single lane traffic. When roadway closures are required,
contractors should work one or two blocks at a time to minimize impacts. A signed detour
route should be in place during closures. There are local detours using Noel Avenue or
Guthrie Road that are available without major impacts to the network. Other localized
network detours are available to various destinations beyond the construction zone as well.

Local access to homes will need to be accommodated and communicated with the property
owners. At a minimum, pedestrian access to all homes and businesses should be always
maintained.
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When one lane can be utilized for traffic, due to the lower volume of traffic within the
corridor, we recommend that SLAT can be implemented through the construction zone
during construction. Based on the traffic volumes, we would recommend that initially SLAT
zones are maximized at 200 m to maintain a minimum level of traffic through the work zone.
It is expected that a percentage of local traffic would detour where practical, which will
minimize traffic through the corridor.

While Stewart Street is closed to traffic, transit is expected to use Pritchard Road to access
Balmoral Road. Routes will then either turn westbound or eastbound on Balmoral Ave.
Based on this, while Stewart Street is closed to traffic, Pritchard Road and Balmoral Road
intersections will need to be open to transit and general traffic. Once work is completed on
Stewart Street it should be opened back up to traffic and transit prior to commencing the
any work on Balmoral Ave. that would impact the Pritchard Road and Balmoral Ave.
intersection.

The Torrence Road and Lazo Road Intersection includes connection points to Hawkins Road
(Goose Spit) and Croteau Road. This intersection is the only access to these areas and will
need to be maintained during installation of the forcemain through the intersection.

Figure 5.9 - Section 7 Traffic Mitigation Plan
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5.14 Section 8 - Trenchless Installation to Morland Road

The final section includes areas around the final trenchless installation of the forcemain and
the final connection to the treatment plant.

Construction at the trenchless site off Lazo Road is expected to have minimal traffic impacts
as the work is occurring off Torrence Road or Lazo Road. However, traffic control should be
provided, as necessary, to facilitate safe access to the site for construction vehicles and
material deliveries. Tie in of the forcemain to the trenchless section, however, will require a
full closure of Lazo Road for a brief period (2 to 3 days). During this shut down a local detour
will need to be put in place to route traffic around the construction.

As part of the project, fiber optic cable will be installed from the Lazo Road and Torrence
Road intersection along Lazo Road and up Morland Road. While this cable will be installed
within the shoulder, there may be minor traffic impacts during the installation. It would be
expected that SLAT at a minimum would be maintained to maintain access to the area.

On the plant side of the installation there is a minor section of open cut trench that may
impact access for residents on Morland Road. The contractor should ensure that access to all
homes is maintained during the installation of the forcemain.

Figure 5.10 - Section 8 Traffic Mitigation Plan
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6.0 Transportation Demand Management

The Traffic Management Strategy recommendations do have an impact to travel routes
within the Comox Valley and do increase travel times between the City of Courtenay and The
Town of Comox. As well, the project will increase traffic and travel times on other routes
within the network. Based on this demand, management should be considered.
Transportation Demand Management (TDM) refers to strategies that influence travel
behavior. Opportunities to use TDM approaches to address challenges during construction
are explored in the following sections, both in terms of shifting travel demand to
mode/options that are less impacted and shifting travel demand to off-peak periods.

6.1 Mode Shift

Several opportunities to facilitate and support shifting travel to modes that are less impacted
by the construction works have been identified. In general, it is very difficult to gauge the
effectiveness and eventual use of mode shift opportunities. Mode shift opportunities are
typically oriented toward commuter traffic and typically there needs to be a very large
impact to travel times or routes to have commuters or general traffic shift travel habits.
However, if opportunities are available without significant investment or disruption, they can
be a great incentive to local commuters.

Park-and-Ride requires establishing and promoting parking locations available to
commuters throughout the construction period. These could be located in both
downtown/west Courtenay and east Courtenay, or downtown Comox to facilitate park-and-
ride activities in both directions. Typical target parking areas may include public facilities or
commercial sites with under-utilized parking supply.

There are three travel options that may be considered for transporting individuals between
identified park-and-ride parking areas and key end destinations such as downtown
Courtenay, Downtown Comox, North Island College, and North Island Hospital. Important for
all options is that they result in greater convenience and/or reduced travel time as compared
to a single-occupant vehicle.

The three options are as follows:

1) Transit - Encourage use of existing transit routes. Route No.l1 (Comox Mall / Anfield
Centre) or other routes in east or west Courtenay that might access dedicated
parking areas. Increased communication and an education campaign could be useful
in attracting and promoting transit ridership and a park-and-ride system.
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This approach has the benefit of utilizing an existing service and potentially exposing
new users to transit which may encourage increased Transit use post construction.

2) Rideshare - Targeted communications could be used to encourage ridesharing and
reduce the number of vehicles on the road. Creation of dedicated parking spaces at
key end-point in Downtown Comox, North Island College (outside peak semesters
such as summer months) and some of the commercial areas in West Courtenay or
along Ryan Road could also support rideshare. Rideshare can either be informal
(involving individuals who already have a pre-existing relationship) or through a more
formal ride matching program. One example of a rideshare program is the Kootenay
Rideshare# it facilitates shared transportation which reduces congestion and carbon
emissions while being free to use for drivers and passengers.

The parking spaces for rideshare will be subject to interest and cooperation from the
property owners, including issues of liability. Temporary signage and information
would need to be made available clarifying which areas of identified parking are
available for rideshare and the conditions of using the parking area. For example, a
maximum stay of 10 to 12 hours and rideshare activities only.

3) Shuttle — Consideration may be given to operating a shuttle service during the
construction period operating between identified park-and-ride locations and key
destinations. For this to be an appealing option, the shuttle must operate throughout
the day (or timed to align with key shift start/end time) and have high enough
frequency to be comparable with driving. This approach may be challenging to justify
given the considerable operating cost over the project life and unknown demand. In
many cases it might be more cost effective to provide a transit subsidy rather than
operate a separate shuttle.

Based on the proposed traffic movements and the proposed detour route during
unidirectional traffic flows, we feel there is likely limited advantages to mode shift beyond the
opportunities to use and encourage transit ridership. Individuals typically choose their travel
mode based on optimizing travel time, cost, and safety in alignment with their personal
values and circumstances®. Often the greatest opportunity for mode shift or TDM is created
when a new travel option such as new bike facilities, high occupancy vehicle lanes or a new
transit route/increased frequency is introduced since this can alter an individual's assessment
of their optimal travel mode. Without dedicated high occupancy lanes or detour efficiencies
there is limited opportunities to entice drivers away from driving in the context of this

4 Kootenay Rideshare: https://kootenay.ride-share.org/
5 Personal values and circumstances can include a variety of factors such as: accessto a
vehicle, need to transport children/bulky items, environmental considerations, etc.
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project. Broader community efforts to support TDM measures can be perused independent
of the Sewage Conveyance Project. Based on initial discussions Park and Ride programs will
not be explored at this time.

6.2 Encouraging Cycling

As noted previously, providing opportunities for cyclists to navigate the construction zone
effortlessly is imperative. The Comox Road corridor is already used as a commuter cycling
route and this should be encouraged and accommodated (in both directions) throughout
the construction.

Along with providing the facilities, communication and advertisement of this option should
be brought forward. Based on the traffic patterns and proposed mitigations, cycling could
provide the greatest opportunity for demand management as it does provide opportunity to
bypass detour routes and possibly reduce travel times for those that are able to commute via
bicycle.

Collaboration with the Comox Valley Cycling Coalition could also bring forward other
opportunities and to promote and encourage cycling.

SEWAGE CONVEYNCE PROJECT - TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT STRATEGY — DRAFT REPORT 38
Comox Valley Regional District | November 2022

Aug 9, 2023 RCM Agenda Page 201



50 R I

7.0 Closing

The Traffic Management Strategy for the Sewer Conveyance Project has been prepared to
identify and evaluate various traffic management scenarios and develop a recommended
strategy for the project impacts. The goals of this strategy are to provide a safe environment
for all road users during the construction phase while minimizing impacts to the public,
businesses, and priority vehicles (transit, emergency services, etc.). The recommendations are
intended to be used by the Comox Valley Regional District to communicate both internally
and externally as well as forming the basis of the contractor's Traffic Management Plans.

The recommendations in this report are based on the anticipated construction approach and
resulting traffic management requirements. However, the recommendations in this Traffic
Management Strategy will likely be refined in conjunction with the successful contractor and
implementation will be subject to the contractor’'s work plan and the available budget.

Overall, the following general mitigation recommendations have been included in the
strategy:

1. Comox Road / Comox Avenue should be operated in a unidirectional westbound
configuration for periods of time where two-way traffic cannot be maintained along
the corridor.

2. An eastbound detour route using Ryan Road, Lerwick Road / Guthrie Road and
Anderton Road into the Town of Comox should be signed and communicated during
times of westbound unidirectional traffic on Comox Road/Comox Avenue.

3. Eastbound and westbound access for emergency vehicles must be always
maintained for each construction zone. This would include the ability to stop
westbound traffic and provide eastbound access to emergency vehicles.

4, For sections noted, full shutdowns can be accommodated at off peak hours with
signed detours and commmunications in place.

5. Where feasible transit movements should be prioritized. This could include means for
transit vehicles to be prioritized through SLAT sections or other non-unidirectional
traffic-controlled sections of the project.

6. Space for cyclist and pedestrians needs to always be accommodated throughout the
corridor.

7. Back Road should be discouraged from being used as a detour route and traffic
calming measures should be put in place to reduce speeds and traffic loads.

8. Construction closures through Town of Comox local road network should be limited
to two blocks at a time and include access considerations for all residences and
businesses; and

9. Other mitigation measures as noted.
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Based on the recommendations of the strategy we would suggest the following next steps
with respect to implementation.

1) The Traffic Management Strategy should be distributed and reviewed by project
partners and impacted user groups to ensure the recommendations of the strategy
are achievable and can be supported by all interested groups.

2) The recommendations should be considered and added to the contract specification
for implementation into the two separate construction contracts.

3) Continued dialogue with BC Transit should be advanced with respect to mitigations
for transit route impacts and opportunities to support and encourage transit ridership
during construction.

4) Continued Dialogue with KFN should be advanced regarding mitigation for works
within IR#1 on Comox Road and for and the proposed level of traffic calming
measures proposed through IR#1 on Back Road during construction.

5) Strategic and timely commmunications will be an important mitigation effort to
assist in minimizing impacts to the community. Proactive communications
should continue with respect to information being provided to the travelling
public and the broader community
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TOWN OF COMOX Filberg Heritage Lodge and Park Association o - cfile

61 Filberg Road, Comox Copies - Council
- JW/SR/SA/LP

July 26, 2023

Mayor and Council

Town of Comox
Dear Mayor Minions and Council,

| am writing to you on behalf of the Board of Directors of the Filberg Heritage Lodge and Park Association (FHLPA). As
you may be aware, we are experiencing a significant increase in attendance to the Park, as evidenced by the people
counter located at Gate 1. We are currently second in attendance for Comox Parks, directly behind Marina Park. The
numbers listed do not consider our other three access points. While it is wonderful that people are visiting the Park, it
presents a challenge to keep up with cleaning our public washrooms. These washrooms are in the lower field and next
to the caretaker’s cabin. Our increase in washroom usage is also attributable to the visitors to the Hands On Farm and
their camps, Comox Recreation day camps and adult fitness classes. Currently, both myself and the staff of the Hands
On Farm, coupled with a private contractor, are working diligently to ensure that the washrooms are cleaned and well
stocked. We are finding it very difficult to keep up with this process. Our goal is to mitigate the health and safety risks
to our employees, volunteers and the public; therefore, we request that the washrooms at FHLPA be added to the
cleaning rotation currently in place with other public washroom facilities in the Town. We propose for your
consideration the following schedule:

e From May 1st to September 30th — cleaning 7 days a week
e From October 1st to April 30th — cleaning 3 days a week

| would be happy to discuss this at your convenience, and thank you for your consideration of our proposal.
Kindest regards,
Lenda Thomas

Linda Thomas, Executive Director

Filberg Heritage Lodge and Park Association
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RECEIVED |-

01Aug2023 oO-GSf(i)I-eO]-
TOWN OF COMOX Copies - Council

COMMUNITY EVENT RECOGNITION REQUEST FORM

Requests must be received at least four (4) weeks prior to the date of proclamation, flag raising or
building lighting. Requests may be mailed to: Comox Town Hall, 1809 Beaufort Avenue, Comox BC
VIM 1R9 or e-mailed to town@comox.ca. Telephone enquiries should be directed to Town Hall Reception
at (250) 339-2202 during regular business hours Monday to Friday 8:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m.

Organization you are representing:

MIKI'SIW Metis Association

Primary purpose of Organization: Number of
. . members:
To represent the Metis People of the Comox Valley and educate general public about
the Metis People. 448
Mailing address of Organization: Contact Name:
#207 - 576 England Ave. Myrna Logan
Phone:
250-871-7353
City: Postal Code: Email:
Courtenay VON 2N3 comoxvalleymetisoffice@gm
Type of Community Event Recognition Requested (choose all that you are requesting):
[:] Proclamation Flag-Raising [:] Building Lighting
Nov 13-17, 2023 (Colours - maximum 2 colours)

(Dates — day, week or month) (Dates - maximum 7 days)

(Dates - maximum 7 days)

Purpose of Event Recognition (please check all that apply):

] Civic Promotion i Arts and Cultural Celebration
™ Public Awareness Campaign ™ Special Honour of Individual
[ Charitable Fundraising Campaign L] Other (specify):

Description of Organization and relevant information related to your request (attach additional page if needed):
Metis Week, which includes November 16th which is Louis Riel Day. Métis Week celebrates the
heritage, history and contributions of Métis people to British Columbia and Canada with events held
across the province.

Has a similar request been submitted in the past five years?
YES (provide date of previous request): too late last year O NO

Describe any special initiatives or events planned in the Town of Comox as part of this Event Recognition:

We would like to invite members to the flag raising if approved, so we would like to have a specific time
so we can invite.We will be holding our annual event for our members on November 16th at the Comox
Legion, this is a invite only event

Date of application: Signature of applicant: Print name:

01-Aug-2023 Myrna Logan

DRAFT WORDING OF PROCLAMATION TO BE INCLUDED ON REVERSE

H:\Policies\Community Events Recognition Policy\0O4 Community Event Recognition Request Form.docx
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Draft wording of Proclamation:

Note, the Town of Comox may revise this wording of the Proclamation. As appropriate, the cause should outline the local
significance and demonstrate the local connection and/or how it benefits the majority of the citizens of Comox.

OFFICE USE ONLY

Request meets Community Event Recognition Policy (YES/NO): YES D NO

If NO:

C] Group not located in Comox Valley

[:] Event/Request related to ideological or religious beliefs
C] Event/Request contrary to Town policy or bylaw

C] Campaign intended for profit-making

Community Flag Raising Dates (max 7 days): November 13 - 17, 2023

Light-up of Town Hall Dates (max 7 days): Colours:

Personal information you provide on this form is collected pursuant to Section 26 of the Freedom of Information and
Protection of Privacy Act, and this form may be published in its entirety with public meeting agendas, which are also
posted on the Town website at http://comox.ca. The information is used for processing the Proclamation Request
forms. Questions about this collection of information can be made to Town Hall at (250) 339-2202.

H:\Policies\Community Events Recognition Policy\0O4 Community Event Recognition Request Form.docx
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Copies - Council LOG: REFER: AGENDA:

-JW/SR/SA/RN 23-296 RCM

FILE: ACTION: 09Aug23
Town of Comox — Administration 5960-01 MR 04Aug2023

Subject: FW: Toxic Plant Removal from Comox Golf Course TOWN OF COMOX

From: Patricia Sloan

Sent: Tuesday, August 1, 2023 10:43 PM

To: Nicole Minions <NMinions@comox.ca>

Subject: Toxic Plant Removal from Comox Golf Course

*Warning* This E-Mail originated from outside The Town of Comox. *Please open with Caution*

Hi Nicole,

This is my first official contact with you as Mayor and | don't intend to become a harasser. But | hope that you can help
me and my strata in removing a threat currently invading our property from the publicly owned Comox Golf Course. If
you could pass this issue on to those of your staff who have the most influence or add to a Council Meeting agenda
(whatever's appropriate) | and my strata council would be very grateful.

THE ISSUE: Remove Daphne (spurge laurel) - a toxic and invasive plant - from the Comox Golf Course
(https://bcinvasives.ca/invasives/daphne-spurge-laurel/)

This is a nasty plant, native to the Mediterranean, which has escaped from gardens and is now spreading rapidly
within the Town and elsewhere. Touching it can cause everything from rashes to comas. We have walked the course
and can confirm that it is widespread in the rough areas on that property. As you know, | live at

which backs on to the course and the spurge is now spreading from the course onto our property which is used by
residents and guests. Undoubtedly, it's affecting many other properties adjacent to the course and farther away. As |
understand it, there are specific methods to effectively remove a plant, all of which is discussed on the website noted
above.

Thank you very much for your attention, Madame Mayor. I'll look forward to hearing or seeing whatever action will
follow in future.

Best Wishes,

Pat Sloan

comox BC VoM [}
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